AND WHAT TO DO ABOUT IT

Sergio Venegas Marin, Lara Schwarz, and Shwetlena Sabarwal



© 2024 International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank 1818 H Street NW Washington DC 20433 Telephone: 202-473-1000 Internet: www.worldbank.org

This work is a product of the staff of The World Bank with external contributions. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this work do not necessarily reflect the views of The World Bank, its Board of Executive Directors, or the governments they represent.

The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or currency of the data included in this work and does not assume responsibility for any errors, omissions, or discrepancies in the information, or liability with respect to the use of or failure to use the information, methods, processes, or conclusions set forth. The boundaries, colors, denominations, and other information shown on any map in this work do not imply any judgment on the part of The World Bank concerning the legal status of any territory or the endorsement or acceptance of such boundaries.

Nothing herein shall constitute or be construed or considered to be a limitation upon or waiver of the privileges and immunities of The World Bank, all of which are specifically reserved.

Rights and Permissions

This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 IGO license (CC BY 3.0 IGO) <u>http://</u> <u>creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo</u>. Under the Creative Commons Attribution license, you are free to copy, distribute, transmit, and adapt this work, including for commercial purposes, under the following conditions:

All queries on rights and licenses should be addressed to World Bank Publications, The World Bank Group, 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA; e-mail: pubrights@worldbank.org.

THE PA M Δ7 **E**() CATTON AND WHAT TO DO ABOUT IT¹

Sergio Venegas Marin, Lara Schwarz, and Shwetlena Sabarwal²

APRIL 2024

¹*Note:* This is the first part of the forthcoming global report on *Learning to Propel Climate Action* (June 2024). The second part of the report will discuss how the education sector can serve as a powerful catalyst for climate change mitigation and adaptation through mindset and behavior change, green skills, and innovation.

² This work has been done under the guidance of Luis Benveniste, Harry Patrinos, and Halil Dundar. We would like to thank Diego Ambasz, Marla Spivack, Noam Angrist, Anshuman Kamal Gupta, Surayya Masood, Devika Singh, Natasha Ahuja, and Debi Spindelman for their inputs and comments. The team received helpful feedback from Syud Amer Ahmed, Juan Baron, Pedro Cerdan-Infantes, Gabriel Demombynes, James Gresham, Julia Liberman, Craig Meisner, Meskerem Mulatu, Norbert Schady, Monica Yanez Pagans, and Penny Williams.

CONTENTS

SUMMARY
CLIMATE CHANGE IS THREATENING EDUCATION OUTCOMES
Climate change is causing massive school closures
Rising temperatures threaten children and their education
Climate change impacts on health and fragility further erode education outcomes . $$. 14
The education impacts of climate change are an economic time-bomb
WHAT SHOULD POLICYMAKERS DO? ADAPT EDUCATION SYSTEMS FOR GREATER RESILIENCE THROUGH FOUR STEPS
Education Management for climate resilience
School infrastructure for climate resilience
Ensuring learning continuity in the face of climate shocks
Leveraging students and teachers as change agents

EDUCATION CAN BE THE KEY TO ENDING POVERTY IN A LIVABLE PLANET, BUT GOVERNMENTS MUST ACT NOW TO PROTECT IT FROM CLIMATE CHANGE . . . 29

SUMMARY

Education can be the key to ending poverty in a livable planet, but governments must act now to protect it. Climate change is increasing the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events such as cyclones, floods, droughts, heatwaves and wildfires. These extreme weather events are in turn disrupting schooling; precipitating learning losses, dropouts, and long-term impacts. Even if the most drastic climate mitigation strategies were implemented, extreme weather events will continue to have detrimental impacts on education outcomes.

Climate change is causing massive school closures. A 10-year-old in 2024 will experience twice as many wildfires and tropical cyclones, three times more river floods, four times more crop failures, and five times more droughts over her lifetime in a 3°C global warming pathway than a 10-year-old in 1970. Over the past 20 years, schools were closed in around 75 percent or more of the extreme weather events that impacted 5 million people or more. These closures were often prolonged due to infrastructure vulnerability and the use of school infrastructure for emergency sheltering. Rigorous evidence from COVID-19 shows that, on average, a day of school closures is a day of learning lost.

At the same time, rising temperatures are also inhibiting learning. A school day under extreme heat is a day in which some learning is lost. While the size of the impact remains uncertain and highly context specific, temperatures that are very high or deviate significantly from local trends do precipitate learning losses. Heat-related learning losses may appear unremarkable when looking at changes in average temperatures over time. However, detailed new analysis shows that even the small learning impacts of slowly increasing temperatures could amount to significant cumulative losses over time, especially for those in hotter regions.³ Students in the hottest 10 percent of Brazilian municipalities, lost about 1 percent of learning per year due to increasing heat exposure. This would mean that an average student would lose between 0.66-1.5 years of learning due to rising temperatures. Together these effects will lead to significant learning losses which will turn into significant income losses, lower productivity, greater inequality, and possibly greater social unrest.

Despite these catastrophic consequences, education remains overlooked in the climate policy agenda. Education made up less than 1.3 percent of climate-related official development assistance in 2020 and mentioned in less than 1 in 3 Nationally Determined Contribution plans. This paper lays out four concrete ways in which governments can protect education systems from climate change so that their positive impacts on economic development, poverty alleviation, and social cohesion can be sustained and boost-ed. These are: (i) education management for resilience; (ii) school infrastructure for resilience; (iii) ensuring learning continuity in the face of climate shocks; and (iv) leveraging students and teachers as change agents. The paper presents an actionable agenda for each of these with operational examples in different contexts.

³Schady et al., forthcoming

CLIMATE CHANGE IS THREATENING EDUCATION OUTCOMES

"[THE 2019 CYCLONE] DEMOLISHED HOUSES—EVEN OUR DISHES WERE BROKEN—AND BOTH OUR HOSPITAL AND SCHOOL WERE DAMAGED. OUR CLASSROOM WAS DESTROYED. AND AT THE SPOT WHERE I USED TO STUDY UNDER THE MANGO TREES, THE BOOKS, PICTURES, AND NOTEBOOKS GOT REALLY WET WHEN IT RAINED."

Candida, 12-year-old student, Mozambique

Education needs to be protected from climate change. Climate change is increasing the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events such as cyclones, floods, droughts, heatwaves and wildfires as well as the probability of co-occurring events.¹ These extreme weather events are increasingly disrupting schooling; precipitating learning losses, dropouts, and long-term impacts. The education of 75 million children is estimated to have been disrupted by conflict and natural disasters. These are projected to increase in frequency and severity with climate change.² Over 99 percent of children around the world are exposed to at least one major climate and environmental hazard, shock.³ These are eroding educa-

tion outcomes and recent progress in improving

school access and learning.

Extreme weather events threaten learning, enrollment, and the future prospects of students through both direct and indirect channels.⁴ Direct effects of climate shocks harm the quality-of-service delivery and classroom environment, increase school closures, extend the length of those school closures through the use of schools as emergencv centers, and destrov school infrastructure. Indirect effects can emerge through economic shocks, food insecurity, health shocks, and increased conflict, migration, and displacement (see Figure 1). These indirect pathways result in reduced student readiness to learn due to health and nutrition shocks, diminished demand for schooling due to household coping mechanisms, and disruption to education services due to displacement and conflict.

FIGURE 1: CLIMATE CHANGE ERODES EDUCATION OUTCOMES THROUGH BOTH DIRECT AND INDIRECT IMPACTS



CLIMATE CHANGE IS CAUSING MASSIVE SCHOOL CLOSURES

"I have only one thing to say about Cyclone Idai: we were left with nothing. Our houses were all destroyed; the school too. We didn't have classes because classrooms were full of water and the walls were damaged. Later, when the rains stopped, we continued to teach, but under the trees."

- Celeste José Mucaisse, Primary School Teacher, Mozambique

A 10-year-old in 2024 will experience three times more river floods, twice as many tropical cyclones and wildfires, four times more crop failures, five times more droughts, and 36 times more heat waves over their lifetimes in a 3°C global warming pathway compared to a 10-yearold in 1970.⁵ Already, the population affected by climate shocks on an annual basis has more than doubled over the past 40 years (See Figure 2).

Cyclones, floods, wildfires, and storms cause widespread school closures which generate huge learning losses. When cyclone Freddy hit Southern Africa in March 2023 nearly 5 percent of students across Malawi faced school closures.⁷ In the Philippines, over 21 percent of schools are flooded at least once every school year, and this can happen twice a month in some areas.⁸ During the 2022 flooding in Pakistan, estimates show that 3.5 million children had schooling disrupted and 1 million children could stop attending school.⁹ Higher impacts were observed for children of caregivers who had lower levels of education and income. These closures generate huge learning losses.¹⁰ During COVID-19 (March 2020-2022), each month of school closures translated to a month of learning losses.¹¹ A day of school closures is a day of learning lost.



FIGURE 2: WORLD POPULATION AFFECTED BY CLIMATE SHOCKS IN 1981-2020, 5-YEAR MOVING AVERAGE⁶

Cold weather can also disrupt schooling and learning. Although cold extremes have been decreasing globally, some regions such as central Asia and areas of Australia and South America have observed increases in both extreme heat and cold.¹² Cold snaps and storms can produce property damage and power failures which can have consequences on infrastructure and educational systems.¹³ This can also produce school closures.¹⁴ In Mongolia, children of schooling age living in severely affected districts during winter storms were less likely to have completed basic education ten years after the shock than those children in less affected districts.¹⁵ In January and February 2024, winter storms caused school closures in central and eastern Europe and the midwestern United States.¹⁶

Most extreme weather events result in school closures. Over the past 20 years, schools were closed in at least 75 percent of the extreme weather events impacting 5 million people or more (see Figure 3). In Malawi, 42 percent of primary schools were closed due to the drought in 2015, forcing over 130,000 boys and girls to drop out of school. In the Philippines, cyclones in 2009 and 2013 4,300 19,300 damaged and schools to extended school respec-tively, leading closures. As the incidence of extreme weather events continues to increase, so does the likelihood of these school closures.



FIGURE 3: MOST COUNTRIES EXPERIENCE MORE CLIMATE-RELATED SCHOOL CLOSURES EVERY YEAR.

Shown is an index on school closures that combines the duration of school closures and their geographic spread. The larger the bubble the larger either the length of the school closure or the number of people affected, or both. Source: Angrist et. at (2023). Building resilient education systems: Evidence from large-scale randomized trials in five countries. No. w31208. National Bureau of Economic Research. Compiled school closure information based on press releases of the United Nation's Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) Relief-Web, World Vision, UNICEF, the BBC, and other local outlets.

The duration of school closures is prolonged when school infrastructure is vulnerable or when schools are used as evacuation centers. For example, between 50 to 90 percent of 6.000 school buildings across Samoa, Tonga, and Vanuatu may not withstand a strong cyclone.¹⁷ In Zimbabwe, over half of schools (57%) reported the complete destruction of some infrastructure following Cyclone Idai which hit the country in 2019.¹⁸ In Haiti, physical damage to the education sector from natural disasters has damaged four out of five schools across the country¹⁹. In addition, schools are often used as evacuation centers as seen in Haiti,²⁰ Japan,²¹ Libya,²² Pakistan,23 and the Philippines24 have shown. In Pakistan, 92 percent of households affected by flooding in 2022 were still uncertain six months later of when local schools would reopen.²⁵

Even when schools do not close, extreme weather events reduce attendance and attainment. In Brazil there are more absences during the rainy season even when classes are not suspended. This is due to challenges in transportation, particularly for poorer and more vulnerable students. The number of days impacted by small-scale floods ranges from 7 to more than 12 days every year.²⁶ Students in flood-affected areas spend more time traveling from home to the university on flood days (2.54 hours compared to 1.24 hours on non-flood days).²⁷Attendance is also affected with the percentage of students present for face-to-face classes decreasing from 77 percent on days without flooding to 27 percent on flood days.²⁸ Even online participation can be affected- overall participation on an online learning platform for undergraduate and graduate school courses decreased by 20 percent due to two major typhoon events that affected the Philippines in 2020.²⁹ In India and Kenya, positive rainfall shocks were associated with 0.2 to 0.8 less years of schooling, respectively.³⁰

Some students do not return to school after school closures. In Chile, school closures increased the probability of students dropping out of high school by 49-68 percent.³¹ Following COVID-19 school closures, in Ethiopia and Pakistan, school enrollment among children 6-14 dropped by 4 percentage points and 6 percentage points, respectively, once schools re-opened.³² Declines were much larger for students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds.



RISING TEMPERATURES THREATEN CHILDREN AND THEIR EDUCATION

A school day under extreme heat is a day in which some learning is lost, but the size of the loss remains uncertain and very context specific. Across 58 developed and developing countries participating in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), each additional hot day (above 26.7 °C) in the three years preceding exams lowered learning by 0.0018 standard deviations, equivalent to 1.08 days.³³ These impacts were stronger on school days and disproportionately affected poorer countries. However, it is difficult to extrapolate these findings to countries and regions of the world where starting temperatures are much higher, and thus, reaching high temperature thresholds represents less of a deviation from normal. In countries with higher temperatures, the temperature threshold needed to be surpassed for learning to be inhibited will naturally be higher. For instance, in India, each additional hot day lowered learning for reading for primary school students by 0.002 standard deviations, similar to the previously cited paper, but this impact was associated with days surpassing a temperature threshold of 29 °C compared to 26.7 °C.34 A novel survey for this note, covering 94 education policymakers across 28 low- and middle-income countries, reveals that 47 percent of policymakers believe that learning is only compromised when temperatures are above 37.8 °C. This type of finding implies the incidence of days with extreme heat negatively impacts learning, but the size of the impact will be very much dependent on starting temperatures and the local context.

Extreme heat on exam day significantly reduces test scores. Even a modest increase of 1°C in outdoor temperature on exam days can result in a substantial decline in test scores.³⁵ In China, temperatures exceeding 32°C on exam days, compared to a more moderate range of 22°C-24°C, decreases math scores by 0.066 standard deviations.³⁶ In Vietnam, each 0.56°C increase in temperature on exam day for college entrance exams decreased standard deviation by 0.006. Notably, female students and those residing in rural areas were most vulnerable to these effects.³⁷ These big impacts could be particularly problematic for high-stake exams which disproportionately impact a student's future employment and earnings.³⁸ The effect of extreme heat on Korean college entrance exams is equivalent to increasing class sizes by 2-3 students.³⁹

Higher average temperatures overall also negatively impact learning outcomes. In Brazil, an increase of 1°C during the 2 years prior to the basic education national assessment (SAEB) translates into a learning loss of 0.03 standard deviations in test scores,⁴⁰ or 10 percent of a typical year of learning.⁴ In the United States, test scores decreased by 1 percent for every 0.56°C increase in temperature in the school years leading up to the test.⁴¹ Similar results were also found for English/Language Arts and Math test scores for students in third grade through eighth grade across the United States. Strong effects were also observed when considering days of extreme heat above 37.8°C. ⁴²

Crossing specific temperature thresholds causes stronger learning losses than an overall relationship between average temperatures and learning may suggest. Therefore, studies that look at increases in the average temperature in the year(s) prior to an exam find relatively small impacts while studies that look at the impact of extreme heat on specific school days find larger impacts. In other words, strong learning losses may emerge only when temperature crosses certain thresholds.

⁴ This conversion assumes that a typical student learns 0.3 standard deviations per year (See Sabarwal et al., 2023 and Bau et al., 2021 for more information)



While there is some variation in the precise temperature level, it is clear that exceeding specific temperature thresholds compromise learning outcomes. In several middle- and high-income settings, the ideal classroom temperatures lie between 19.5 and 23.3°C.43 In those settings, any temperature above 24°C can compromise reaction time, processing speed⁴⁴, and accuracy45 through changes in heart rate and respiratory rates. The heart rates of children can increase by approximately 10 beats per minute for every degree Celsius increase in body temperature.⁴⁶ Similarly, respiratory rates can increase by up to 2 breaths per minute per degree Celsius increase in body temperature.⁴⁷ In China, higher classroom temperatures increased reported health symptoms of dry throat, dry skin and headaches, dizziness, difficulty in thinking and concentrating clearly, fatigue, and decreased well-being and mood.⁴⁸ Across 5 experimental studies, high temperature produced declines in student performance ranging from 2 to 12 percent for each 1°C increase in classroom temperature.49

Beyond exceeding temperature thresholds, deviations from normal also matter for learning, and this goes in both directions. The effects of extreme temperatures on learning will differ regionally due to local climate and adaptive capacity. In regions used to lower temperatures, hot days may have a larger effect as the students may not be used to such temperatures. In the United States, learning was more affected by hot days in schools with lower average temperatures (55° F compared to 85° F).⁵⁰ Students living in hotter climates may be more resilient to the effects of extreme temperatures and the schools may have stronger adaptation measures to combat these effects. While less common under climate change, the opposite is also true. In regions used to higher temperatures, cold days may have an equally negative impact on learning. For example, in Australia, an additional 10 cold school days with maximum temperature under 15.6°C in the exam year reduced test scores by 1.2% of a standard deviation, or 4% of a typical year of learning.⁵¹

Further, even the small learning impacts of slowly increasing temperatures could amount to significant cumulative losses over time. Novel analysis from Brazil shows that in the hottest 10 percent of municipalities, maximum daily temperatures rose more quickly (at a rate of about 0.6 degrees Celsius per decade) than in the other 90 percent.⁵² In these municipalities, which are also the most disadvantaged, students lost about 1 percent of learning per year due to rising temperatures. If one assumes that learning is entirely cumulative with each year's learning building on the prior, and that each year only 1 percent of learning is lost, by the time a student completes grade 12, that student will have lost about 1.5 years of learning. In a more conservative and yet realistic scenario, if one assumes a mix of learning being entirely cumulative in the early years and more independent in the later years, by the time a student completes grade 12, that student will have lost about 0.66 years of learning. In essence, the study finds that a child who enters 1st grade today in a municipality already experiencing high temperatures will lose between 0.66 and 1.5 years of learning by the time she graduates from 12th grade.



FIGURE 4: GLOBAL INCIDENCE OF EXTREME HEAT DAYS (> 30°C) IN 2020⁵³

Extreme heat will disproportionally affect the poorest regions. Warmer and lower resource settings are facing higher exposures to extreme heat conditions and as a result experiencing the greatest burden on educational outcomes (See Figure 4). A country like Gambia will experience a median of 280 hot days (above 35 C) a year under a pessimistic (SSP5-8.5) scenario while a lower impact of 209 days under a middle of the road (SSP2-4.5) scenario.⁵⁴ In contrast, the Netherlands is expected to experience around 2 hot days a year even under the most pessimistic climate scenario. In addition, within countries, hot days will disproportionately affect poorer students who are significantly more likely to attend schools without electricity (or air-conditioning).



CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACTS ON HEALTH AND FRAGILITY FURTHER ERODE EDUCATION OUTCOMES

"Because of climate change... now we have a crisis of water, and then a crisis of land... And then we have terrorist groups again... which has devolved into this civil war we are witnessing now in Mali. And then, because of this insecurity there is no education, there is no security, there is no development."

- Houyame Hakmi, Malian PhD student in Morocco

Climate change is adversely affecting education outcomes indirectly through a range of health **shocks.** A child exposed to high temperature in-utero or in early life will attain 1.5 fewer years of schooling in Southeast Asia.55 Exposure to normal weather conditions in-utero as compared to extreme weather conditions decreases the probability of dropping out of school by 5 percent in Colombia.⁵⁶ Vector-borne diseases such as malaria, dengue and Lyme disease are highly sensitive to temperature and precipitation and will increase in many regions under climate change.⁵⁷ Around 48 million people could be at increased risk of seasonal malaria transmission and 62 million at an increased risk of endemic malaria transmission in Central, Eastern and Southern Africa by 2030.58 Rising temperatures also amplify the impacts of air pollution, from wildfire smoke and other sources, on children's health and academic performance.⁵⁹ Exposure to fine particulate matter, a harmful air pollutant, lowers test scores as shown with evidence from Brazil, Chile, China, India, Iran, Italy, and the United States (See Box 1).60

The mental health of students is also compromised by climate shocks. Droughts, hurricanes, and wildfires can also have negative impacts on student mental health. Following hurricane Katrina in the United States, the majority of affected ninth grade ethnic minority students had mild or severe symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).⁶⁶ College students affected by the Fort McMurray wildfires had a 11 percent in PTSD following the fires.⁶⁷ Climate anxiety has also been shown to be an increasingly prevalent stressor for vouth.⁶⁸ Across 50 countries covering 56 percent of the world's population, almost 70 percent of children believe climate change is a global emergency which can produce higher stress and anxiety.⁶⁹ These mental health impacts are likely to adversely affect both student learning and retention.

Climate change is causing food insecurity and economic fragility which jeopardize school en-*rollment.* It is estimated that up to 170 million additional people will be at risk of hunger by 2080 due to climate change.⁷⁰ This will have adverse effects on student learning and achievement.⁷¹ Extreme weather events strain on household re-

BOX 1: CLIMATE CHANGE, AIR POLLUTION AND EDUCATION

Climate change can increase air pollutants through changes in photochemical reactions, ventilation and dilution, and removal processes such as precipitation.⁶¹ Climate change is likely to increase global air pollution and associated mortality. Projections have shown that 14% of the overall increase in ozone mortality from 2000 to 2100 estimated in a high emissions scenario (RCP8.5) will be attributed to climate change.⁶² Although particulate matter is expected to decrease overall, the decrease would be approximately 16% greater without the adverse effects of climate change.⁶³ Poor air quality can affect learning and schooling through closures and impacts on cognition and academic achievement. In Brazil, higher particulate matter (PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) around schools is associated with 0.05 percent and 1.02 percent lower scores, respectively.⁶⁴ In China, high air pollution increases school absences, and this was shown to persist for up to 4 days. An air quality that is 10 units higher can produce over 80 thousand student absences student across China every day.⁶⁵ The effects of climate change and air pollution can also co-occur and interact, continuing to produce even more detrimental effects in vulnerable regions.

sources and can lead to lower expenditure on schooling lasting years after a shock.⁷² In Bangladesh, exposure to cyclones, floods, and droughts increased child marriages as families use bride payments as a coping mechanism to financial hardship.⁷³ The economic strain of climate shocks on households will increase learning poverty and prevent educational continuity.

Climate shocks exacerbate conflict, displacement, and migration, threatening education outcomes for millions of children. A one standard deviation change in climate (temperature and rainfall) can increase the risk of intergroup conflict by 14 percent and interpersonal violence by 4 percent.⁷⁴ Migration and displacement will also increase due to changes in water availability, crop productivity, and wealth which will impact educational continuity for children. Conflict, violence, and war in turn have severe consequences on children's educational attainment and achievement. In some settings, temperature shocks also increase recruitment of boy and girl as child soldiers.⁷⁵ Approximately 222 million children are out of school or at risk of dropping out of school due to conflict or crises.⁷⁶

THE EDUCATION IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ARE AN ECONOMIC TIME-BOMB

Reduced education attainment will translate into lower earnings and productivity. Climate change and weather extremes will have severe costs on human capital and human development.⁷⁷ School attainment is linked with higher earnings, with estimates suggesting a return of 9-10 percent for each additional year of schooling. These returns are higher in poorer countries and among girls. As climate shocks reduce education attainment, future earnings will suffer. As witnessed with the COVID-19 pandemic, learning losses and lower levels of education attainment reduce income and productivity, with students in grades 1-12 affected by school closures expected to earn 3 percent less in their lifetime. Studies looking at the impact of wildfires also infer deep impacts on future earnings, with estimates implying one year of higher wildfire smoke inhalation reduces future earnings of affected populations in the U.S. by \$1.7 billion. This affects primarily disadvantaged groups.⁷⁸ These impacts are compounded by the direct economic effects brought about by climate shocks, which can directly reduce economic growth and levels of output.79

The impacts will be felt across generations, as lower education attainment perpetuates cycles of poverty and limits social mobility. Individuals with lower education attainment face economic disadvantages and restricted access to stable employment. These inequalities are transmitted from one generation to the next.⁸⁰ Parents with lower education attainment often struggle to offer adequate support and resources for children's education, further perpetuating the cycle of lower education levels within families.⁸¹ This can manifest in various ways, such as limited access to early childhood education due to cost, fewer opportunities for enrichment activities, and inadequate academic support at home. Health disparities also arise, as lower education correlates with poorer health outcomes. The combination of these factors traps families in cycles of poverty, and further increases their vulnerability to climate shocks.82

The erosion of education outcomes threatens the progress on poverty reduction. The individual returns to education and the acquisition of skills add up to large benefits for economies. Three-quarters of the variation in growth of GDP per capita across countries from 1960 to 2000 can be explained by changes in math and science skills, highlighting the importance of education in economic security and growth.⁸³ But for many countries, realizing the benefits of education remains a challenge. In 2019, learning poverty rate in low- and middle-income countries was 57 percent, or 6 out of 10 children could not read and understand a basic text by age 10. In Sub-Saharan Africa, the rate was even higher, at 86 percent.⁸⁴ The looming threat of climate shocks, akin to the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, further worsens the acquisition of vital skills. Without these foundational skills, individuals lack the tools needed to secure stable employment and higher incomes, hindering poverty reduction efforts.

VULNERABLE COMMUNITIES, WHO HAVE CONTRIBUTED THE LEAST TO CLIMATE CHANGE, WILL BE THE MOST AFFECTED.

"Unfortunately, we are the ones who can no longer mitigate. We have to adapt."

- Lashanti Jupp, Education Activist, Bahamas

The more severe impacts of climate change will occur in low- to-middle-income countries (LMICs), which are home to 85 percent of the world's children.⁸⁵ Yet, these countries contribute the least to carbon emissions responsible for climate change. For example, the ten highest-risk countries collectively emit only 0.5 percent of global emissions. In addition, consumption-based emissions data shows that high income countries are responsible for 92 percent of excess global CO2 emissions.⁸⁶ In poor countries, economic growth is reduced by 1.3 percent for each 1°C increase in temperature each year.⁸⁷

Within affected communities, the most vulnerable children will bear most of the effects. Approximately 90 percent of the global burden of disease associated with climate change affects children. According to the Young Lives study which followed the lives of 12,000 children in poor communities across Ethiopia, India, Peru, and Vietnam, children in the poorest households within each country are more affected by extreme weather events. For example, in Ethiopia, 81 percent of children from the poorest households had experienced one or more extreme weather events while 22 percent from the least poor households had been exposed to these events.⁸⁸ Certain groups of people will suffer greater climate impacts, including those with chronic illness and mobility challenges, people of color and women and girls, and those from low-income populations.⁸⁹

Education impacts from climate disasters disproportionately harm young girls. Climate-related events prevent at least 4 million girls in low- and lower-middle-income countries from completing their education.⁹⁰ In India, girls and children from a lower socio-economic status are more susceptible to flooding and its effect on learning outcomes.⁹¹ More broadly, girls and women are particularly vulnerable to the social responses triggered by weather shocks, especially in places where they face restrictive gender norms.⁹² Coping strategies to extreme weather events can be particularly harmful to women. Girls are more likely to experience violence and exploitation related to climate shocks,93 be forced into early marriage,94 and become pregnant,95 all of which can affect their ability to stay in school. During or after weather shocks, boys can also be taken out of schools to be put at work and young men working in agriculture are often forced to migrate to find alternative sources of income.96

WHAT SHOULD POLICYMAKERS DO? ADAPT EDUCATION SYSTEMS FOR GREATER RESILIENCE THROUGH FOUR STEPS.

re le langeo

"WE ALWAYS SAY CLIMATE CHANGE IS A GLOBAL ISSUE. BUT ACTUALLY, IT LOOKS COMPLETELY DIFFERENT IN DIFFERENT CITIES AND COUNTRIES. AND SO, CHILDREN ARE EXPERIENCING IT DIFFERENTLY, AND THE SOLUTIONS ALSO HAVE TO BE LOCAL."

Keya Lamba, Youth Activist, UK

There is an urgent need to adapt education systems for climate change. Even if the most drastic climate mitigation strategies were implemented, we will continue to observe extreme weather events having detrimental impacts on education outcomes. For the millions of children that need to attend school over the next 50 years, the results of mitigation will simply come too late. Actions can be implemented now to increase the capacity of education systems to adapt and to cope with these increasingly prevalent climate stressors.

Education policymakers do not seem to fully appreciate the urgency for climate adaptation within the education sector. A novel survey for this note, covering 94 education policymakers across 28 low- and middle-income countries, reveals that only about half (53 percent) believe that hotter temperatures inhibit learning and nearly 46 percent also got one of five basic climate change related questions wrong. Further, nearly 61 percent said the protection of learning from climate change is among the bottom three priorities in their country (out of a set of ten priorities). The corresponding number for World Bank education task team leaders was 72 percent. This low prioritization of adaptation is troubling given that increasing heat exposure during the school year could come to explain around one-third of



the difference in the PISA performance between countries like Brazil and South Korea.⁹⁷

This section presents a broad menu of options that can be part of a sound adaptation strategy, as well as examples of how countries are applying these solutions. Ultimately, countries will need to contextualize their strategies according to the climate stressors they face, the resources available, and what would work best for their populations.

Adapting education systems for greater resilience requires policymakers to act on four fronts (see Figure 5): (i) education management for resilience; (ii) school infrastructure for resilience; (iii) ensuring learning continuity in the face of climate shocks; and (iv) leveraging students and teachers as change agents.

But this adaptation requires policymakers to allocate sufficient funding for boosting climate resilience within the education sector. Effectively implementing adaptation strategies to minimize harm and cope with climate shocks will require additional funds for the education sector. The case for education investment must be strengthened for improved domestic resource mobilization and increased allocation of global adaptation financing to education. Each dollar invested in disaster risk reduction to make education systems climatesmart can save up to 15 in post-disaster recovery.⁹⁸ Part of the strategy to mobilize funding may involve the education sector accessing existing, or setting up new, loss and damage funds.⁹⁹ Innovative financing mechanisms, such as the use of parametric insurance in the education sector, may also be useful in ensuring funds are available when coping with shocks.¹⁰⁰ Though no global figures exist to summarize the additional financing needed for this effort, scattered estimates give a sense of the scale. Looking at just damages due to tropical cyclones, global estimates indicate the education sector experiences financial losses of USD 4 billion annually.¹⁰¹ In the Philippines alone, over 10,000 classrooms per year are damaged due to typhoons and floods.¹⁰²

FIGURE 5: APPROACH TO ADAPT EDUCATION SYSTEMS TO CLIMATE CHANGE



EDUCATION MANAGEMENT FOR CLIMATE RESILIENCE

First, support adaptation and disaster risk planning at the sector and school levels. Education policies, at the national and subnational levels, need to reflect the reality of climate change and what it means to their sector. Critical aspects to cover include an assessment of climate risks, strategies to minimize impacts to infrastructure and education outcomes, clear coping mechanisms to manage learning continuity during climate shocks, plans to effectively restore learning process after natural disasters, and a sensible approach to involve teachers, students, and their families in the overall adaptation process. Nearly 60 percent of countries in a 2017 survey of 68 high-risk countries for disasters include either disaster risk reduction or disaster response components in their education sector plan, but these are not always comprehensive.¹⁰³ The Ministry of Education of Liberia has integrated climate mitigation and adaptation measures into its education sector plan running through 2027, which identifies medium and longterm adaptation needs and implements strategies to address them.¹⁰⁴ Climate change learning strategies led by national institutions have been implemented by various countries such as Benin, Uganda and Indonesia to strengthen linkages between the education and training institutions and the climate change community.¹⁰⁵

Such planning should be underpinned by clear data and analysis related to climate risks and possible coping strategies. Effectively preparing for, coping with, and recovering from climate shocks requires education policymakers to understand the climate risks faced by their sector. Periodically assembling and discussing data about schools that are at risk can help the system minimize negative impacts. Infrastructure assessments are equally important to identify sub-optimal school structures that need upgrading for greater resilience against climate shocks. The process of assembling these data may involve coordination and consultation with non-education ministries and experts. Second, invest in early warning systems. Investing in mechanisms to alert schools in real time and take early action will minimize the damage of adverse climate events on students, teachers, and schools. Risk reduction measures benefit schools and help communities learn of the risk through students. Multi-hazard early warning systems are being implemented in a growing number of countries and have been proven to minimize damage and the number of people impacted by climate shocks.¹⁰⁶ In the Philippines and Indonesia, an early warning system for typhoons, floods, and earthquakes is used for disaster preparedness and response. In Indonesia, the education sector is provided information through a mobile app to improve disaster knowledge for students and staff (see Box 2).107

Third, supporting good management at the school level can really pay off. Offering targeted in-service training to school principals on crisis response and overall management practices can help with risk mitigation and improve the speed and recovery following climate shocks. In Haiti, following Hurricane Matthew, better managed schools recovered faster, with the difference even more pronounced at higher levels of damage.¹⁰⁸ School principals scoring higher on a range of management practices were able to re-open schools faster, bring students and teachers back sooner, significantly minimize learning losses, and introduce disaster risk reduction measures in case of re-occurrence. Similarly, in Puerto Rico, school principals scoring higher on management practices were better able to keep students engaged though remote learning opportunities.¹⁰⁹

BOX 2: EXAMPLE EARLY WARNING SYSTEM FOR SCHOOL



MOBILE APP FOR DISASTER RESPONSE – INDONESIA

InaRISK is a platform that summarizes results of local-level disaster risk following hazard assessments conducted by the local government. It has a mobile app that provides information about risks and guidance on how to take anticipatory actions during a disaster. Indonesia's education system, from primary schools to high schools, are using the app as part of the Disaster Safe Education Unit (SPAB) programme implemented by the Ministry of Education, Culture and Research and Technology to improve the disaster knowledge of students and staff. Schools receive alerts through different channels, and evacuation procedures are often practiced during drills.

Learn more!



SCHOOL INFRASTRUCTURE FOR CLIMATE RESILIENCE

For infrastructure the key actions are strengthening the resilience of existing buildings, protecting classrooms from heat, and adopting innovative best practices (for both resilience and cooling) for any new construction.

Compliance with local building codes must be enforced for all school buildings. Building codes are the minimum design and construction requirements to ensure safe and resilient structures. Though they vary by country, these codes establish the acceptable levels of risk from an engineering perspective. When school buildings operate outside the scope of the building codes, they are at risk of severe damage and destruction during climate shocks. This is unfortunately far too common. In Niger, nearly 47 percent of school infrastructure stock continues to rely on temporary structures (classes paillotes) made of straw, which are built based on demand and are dismantled annually during rainy season, leaving millions of children and youth without access to school.¹¹⁰ Note however that different climate risks add different types of stress on school infrastructure, and thus require different solutions. Even for each specific risk, there is no one-size-fits-all solution as different contexts will have different resources available to respond and mitigate damage.

Structural adjustments can help minimize potential damage to schools from floods and landslides. Measures specifically aimed at preventing urban run-off and flooding can be implemented at the school building level. Options include the construction of retaining walls, improved gutters and drainage systems to guide water away from the schools, as well as the construction of schools with elevated foundations. Temporary retaining walls can even be made out of sandbags. In Rwanda, a new project is equipping 1,367 school sites with retaining walls to mitigate flood- and rainstorm-related landslides, as well as related risks to communities and their assets living downstream from the school location.¹¹¹ In Vietnam, schools in flood-prone areas have been designed with elevated foundations, and classrooms are often constructed on stilts to reduce the risk of inundation.¹¹² Infrastructure built for flood risk reduction not only increases resilience to climate stressors but can have co-benefits on environmental, social and economic systems.¹¹³ There are programs like the World Bank Global Program for Safer Schools, that aim to improve the safety and resilience of schools to natural hazards through large-scale investments in safer school infrastructure.¹¹⁴ In Peru, the program supported policy reform to improve resources for disaster risk management, reduce infrastructure vulnerabilities in the education and housing sectors including flood protection measures and increase governmental capacity for post-disaster recovery and reconstruction.¹¹⁵

Risk-informed location for new schools is critical. The geographical location of a school determines the climate hazards to which it is exposed. Hazard maps can be particularly useful. For existing infrastructure, an understanding of the exposure of each school facility to natural hazards can serve as a starting point for managing climate risk. For new infrastructure, knowledge of the risks of particular locations can guide decision-making into where to locate schools to minimize risk. If risk cannot be avoided, because of the location of the community that needs to be served by the new school facility, the risk information can inform the design of the new school building to minimize damage during the most likely climate shocks. In Indonesia, optimal locations for education facilities have been identified using a model for land suitability by considering a multi-hazard disaster risk index, with over 25 percent of schools currently located in high vulnerability areas.¹¹⁶

Classroom temperatures need to be better managed, but this doesn't need to be costly. As discussed above, heat impedes learning. Reducing classroom temperature from 30 °C to 20 °C could increase performance on learning-related tasks by 20 percent.¹¹⁷ In Costa Rica, air conditioning units were used to reduce classroom temperatures from about 30 to 25°C and speed on cognitive tests increased up to 7.5 percent, and accuracy increased by 0.6 percent for each degree reduction in classroom temperature.¹¹⁸ Interestingly, this effect was stronger for lower performing students. While installing air conditioning units in classrooms is an option that some countries have implemented, it is certainly not the only approach to lowering temperatures. Less costly solutions range from painting rooftops with solar-reflective white paint, increasing tree coverage in and around the school, leveraging water features to mist the air, to even modifying school schedules to avoid peak heat (See Box 3). **New classrooms can be designed to keep cool.** The use of natural ventilation, insulating materials, and climate-responsive designs for schools can be alternative strategies to interventions like air conditioning, which may not be feasible in all contexts. School construction integrating natural daylight and cross-ventilation as well as trees and/ or shade structures can reduce the energy needed.¹¹⁹ For example, Kenya implemented a Green Economy Strategy and Implementation Plan that promotes bioclimatic design for school buildings and will increase thermal comfort for students during high temperatures.¹²⁰

BOX 3: SAMPLE STRATEGIES TO COMBAT CLASSROOM EXTREME HEAT

Low Tech

INDONESIA

Painting rooftops white.

In Indonesia, a project established a facility to produce affordable coatings to install cool roofs on over 70 buildings including schools. Indoor temperatures were reduced by over 10 °C by replacing dark roofs with a white coating. Low Tech

KENYA

Tree planting.

Kenya has set a target to plant 15 billion trees by 2032. Trees will be planted by students and education workers and will provide shade in school grounds lowering temperatures. This practice can reduce temperatures in the school area by 1-5 °C.

High Tech

TAIWAN

Air conditioning in schools.

The government of Taiwan has invested \$1.2 billion USD to install air conditioning in every public classroom. Evidence from Costa Rica has shown AC to be effective at managing temperatures and supporting learning.



BOX 4: SAMPLE INNOVATIVE DESIGN FOR TEMPERATURE CONTROL



GANDO PRIMARY SCHOOL – BURKINA FASO





The Gando Primary school was designed by Francis Kéré within the parameters set by cost, climate, resource availability and construction feasibility. For construction, Clay was used. This material is abundant in the region and can offer thermal protection against hot climate. To avoid overheating due to the commonly used corrugated metal roof, the design pulls the roof of the Gando Primary School away from the learning space of the interior. A dry-stacked brick ceiling is introduced in between, allowing for maximum ventilation: cool air is pulled in from the interior windows, while hot air is released out through perforations in the clay roof. This also significantly reduces the ecological footprint of the school by alleviating the need for air-conditioning.



In Burkina Faso (see Box 4), the Gando Primary School is a good example of locally-contextualized and innovative design that addresses the issue of extreme heat in classrooms.

When the schools are running, make sure water runs as well. Access to water, beyond a basic human need, is also a highly effective practice for increasing attendance, enrollment, and learning.¹²¹ Ensuring this provision, especially in water-scarce environments, requires innovative thinking and local solutions. In Kenya, water tanks and sanitation infrastructure were installed on rooftops through a water harvesting project. This not only creates storage to harvest water during the rainy season to provide water access during the drier months but can also help minimize local flooding of schools.¹²² In Vietnam, 300,000 water purifiers are being distributed to schools and other community institutions to provide access to clean drinking water to 2 million children. This option provides clean water to students and is expected to reduce carbon emissions by 6 million tons over 10 years.¹²³

Ultimately, climate shocks add a level of stress to school infrastructure that cannot be fully remedied, but enhancing the resilience of school buildings and ensuring continuity of learning during school closures can significantly reduce their impacts.¹²⁴

ENSURING LEARNING CONTINUITY IN THE FACE OF CLIMATE SHOCKS

Keep schools open (to the extent possible). There is overwhelming evidence that school closures lead to tremendous learning losses, especially for the disadvantaged. And these losses may be impossible to recover. Therefore, schools should only be closed when essential and every effort should be made to reopen as soon as possible.

Minimize the time schools are exclusively used as emergency shelters. A key part of minimizing school closures is to minimize their use as evacuation centers and/or emergency shelters. While these centers offer a lifeline to the community, they do so at the expense of children's learning and their future. At times of crisis, it is normal for countries to resort to their public infrastructure to meet the needs of their people, and this includes schools. However, given the high-cost school closures can have on students and their learning, it is important to minimize the length of the school disruption regardless of how the school buildings are being used. Establishing alternative options, keeping dual functions by using classrooms as shelters only at night and reverting to classes during the day, or using alternative temporary learning facilities on school sites can lower impacts on schooling.¹²⁵

In the event of school closures, four actions can protect or even boost education outcomes.

 Strengthen remote learning mechanisms to ensure learning continuity during climate-related disruptions. COVID-19 disruptions demonstrated that remote learning needs to be done more effectively. It's time to put these lessons to work to protect learning from climate shocks. Across five countries (India, Kenya, Nepal, Philippines and Uganda) phone-based targeted instruction significantly improved learning by delivering up to four years of quality instruction for every 100 dollars spent.¹²⁶ On flood days in Brazil, students who had only face-to-face classes had approximately 33 percent lower test scores, but no difference was observed when students had access to virtual learning options.¹²⁷ Remote learning models can be an important adaptation strategy to ensure continuous learning during school closures. Remote instruction proved to be most successful when it ensured fit-for-purpose, enhanced effectiveness of teachers, established meaningful interactions, and engaged parents and students as partners.¹²⁸

- 2. Conduct re-enrollment campaigns if school closures last long. As schools re-open, many children do not return on their own.¹²⁹ Back to school communication campaigns, both general and targeted to at-risk students, can help increase attendance and re-enrollment rates.¹³⁰ As parental concerns about risk and safety may be an important factor keeping children from returning, addressing those fears and ensuring safety will enhance the effectiveness of those campaigns. Following COVID-19-related school closures, Ghana conducted a very successful back-to-school campaign resulting in nearly 100 percent re-enrollment.¹³¹ This campaign was successful because it was conducted at the district level, involving government, civil society, and media, and it leveraged different means of communication including radio, TV, and community events.
- 3. Targeted financial support to disadvantaged students may be needed to bring them back to school. After climate emergencies, poor households may not send children back to school for financial reasons. Removing school fees, offering subsidies to cover the cost of textbooks and uniforms, or giving cash transfers to families have all been shown to increase school participation in the aftermath of shocks. In Sierra Leone, following the school closures associated with the Ebola outbreak in 2014,

the government removed school fees for two years, and offered subsidies to cover basic inputs like textbooks.¹³² These efforts to boost re-enrollment increased access to schooling with an additional 800,000 children enrolling. Broader cash transfer programs that were conditional on schooling in Brazil and Mexico have also increased the resilience of households as well as school participation.¹³³ Easing transport difficulties after climate shocks can also be impactful, such as providing bicycles to rural girls, which increases access to schools (as seen in Zambia and India).¹³⁴

4. Targeted and customized support may be needed for girls. Following shocks, girls are more likely to fall prey to violence and exploitation,¹³⁵ experience deeper income losses,¹³⁶ be forced into early marriage as a coping mechanism,¹³⁷ become pregnant,¹³⁸ and drop out of school as a result. These vulnerabilities make them most likely to benefit from communication campaigns as well as financial and nonfinancial incentives, so long as they are targeted appropriately. Following COVID-19 related school closures, Bangladesh, Benin, Ethiopia, Ghana, Pakistan, and Uganda implemented advocacy campaigns for girls' re-enrollment.¹³⁹ Other incentives such as scholarships and adaptations for young mothers have also shown success in bringing back girls to school after shocks.¹⁴⁰

As students return, catch up and remedial programs may be needed. When schools reopen after climate shocks, not all students will be at the same level as learning losses will likely take place; catch-up programs and extension of the academic calendar can address learning losses for the most impacted students. There are numerous examples of remedial and catch-up programs that proved effective in mitigating learning losses once schools re-open after COVID-19, which can offer valuable insights as countries prepare for increasing climate shocks.¹⁴¹ Common elements of success in those programs include the use of regular classroom assessments to guide instruction and the teaching prioritization of fundamental skills.

School feeding programs can keep students enrolled through climate shocks and offset some of their indirect impacts by improving nutrition and health. Globally, 418 million children have access to school meals¹⁴² and many rely on them for their entire caloric intake. This reliance is growing as increasing weather and climate extreme events are driving millions of people towards acute food insecurity. Hence, the provision of school meals offers a strong incentive for children to go to school daily. It can also be an effective tool to keep children well-nourished, healthier, and enrolled. There is also evidence that school meals can support better learning outcomes. In India, children receiving school meals for prolonged periods of time achieved better test scores in math and reading.¹⁴³ In the Philippines, children enrolled in early childhood nutrition programs performed significantly better in school and every dollar invested in these programs produced a three-dollar gain in academic achievement.¹⁴⁴



Schools may need to provide socio-emotional programs to help address students' anxiety and distress after climate shocks. Climate change and climate shocks are affecting mental health and psychological well-being of students. And mental health is strongly correlated with academic performance.¹⁴⁵ School-based mental health services for elementary school-aged children can be effective in decreasing mental health problems and improving academic performance.¹⁴⁶ For example, Cali-

fornia provided mental health services to address the psychological impact on students after the Camp Fire ravaged through Paradise, California in 2018.¹⁴⁷ In Mozambique, following multiple climate shocks, primary school teachers were trained to provide mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS) to students affected by natural disasters, conflict, and COVID-19 (See Box 5 for more details).¹⁴⁸

BOX 5: POLICY STRATEGIES TO INCREASE RESILIENCE OF EDUCATION SYSTEM TO CLIMATE STRESSORS.



LEVERAGING STUDENTS AND TEACHERS AS CHANGE AGENTS

Students don't have to be passive victims of climate shocks; they can play a key role in risk management. Disaster risk reduction involving student training and leadership can be a low-cost strategy to increasing climate resilience. Primary schools in Cambodia with frequent schooling interruptions from floods, droughts and storms have raised disaster risk knowledge among students by integrating disaster risk reduction into the primary social studies and science curriculum.¹⁴⁹ These efforts focus on integrating relevant examples into existing curriculum to ensure students are exposed to this critical and relevant information without needing to expand the already-complex curriculum. Activities such as capacity building and simulation drills can be implemented with low costs and resources and are effective at increasing student and school resilience to climate hazards. Similarly, the Ministry of Education in Thailand reformed the Basic Education Core Curriculum to embed disaster education. Lessons are based on a prominent community-based risk management framework and are mainstreamed to learners from elementary school to senior high school.¹⁵⁰

As the people on the frontline, teachers have a critical role to play in risk management. Prior to extreme weather events, they can ensure students are aware of the climate risks and how to act in the event of one of them materializing. During and after climate shocks, teachers are instrumental in keeping students engaged in remote learning opportunities if access to school is disrupted. After climate shocks, they hold the key to ensuring learners have their needs met.

For teachers to play this role successfully, they need to be trained effectively on climate change risk reduction and resilience building. An education climate-adaptation policy will fail to deliver results if the messaging doesn't reach those at the frontline: teachers and students. Teachers need to be able to communicate fluently with their students on what climate change is, the risks affecting their region, what to do in case of an emergency, as well as the role students themselves could play in risk management. Novel data for this paper shows that across six LMICs¹⁵¹ from three regions, nearly 81 percent of teachers claimed to include climate themes in their lessons but over 74 percent got at least one (out of five) basic climate change guestion wrong. Several countries are implementing this type of training. For instance, in Buenos Aires, Argentina, teachers in regions highly susceptible to flooding have been trained in flood resilience.¹⁵² Teachers, government officials, and technical experts were brought together to design educational content and spaces that encourage children and young people to adopt more environmentally friendly habits. The initiative has given rise to more than 100 schools having teachers trained in flood resilience, with many more schools in the country expected to join.

To meet the needs of students after school closures, teachers will need to be equipped with the right knowledge and tools. The student that leaves the classroom before a climate shock will be very different from the student that returns after. Learning losses, emotional shock, and a likely less prosperous community will add stress to the learning process and limits to how much can be achieved in the classroom. To meet the needs of the students, teachers will need guidance and capacity building on key aspects. These are well-captured in World Bank's R.A.P.I.D. framework which was developed to tackle learning losses caused by COVID-related school closures and has tremendous relevance for climate-change related school closures. It is based on five evidence-based policy actions for learning recovering after education disruptions:153

- Reach all children.
- Assess learning.
- Prioritize the fundamentals.
- Increase the efficiency of instruction.
- Develop psychosocial health and wellbeing.

BOX 6: EXAMPLE OF TEACHER AND STUDENT TRAINING PROGRAM ON DISASTER RESILIENCE

DISASTER RISK REDUCTION THROUGH SCHOOL TRAINING – KYRGYZ REPUBLIC



The Comprehensive School Safety Framework program in the Kyrgyz Republic is training students and teachers on safe behaviors during an emergency including floods, landslides and earthquakes. The program trains educators and students starting at the preschool level on how to understand and manage disaster risk. This also includes a mobile application and online course including interactive games for primary school children to explain safe behaviors during emergency situations. School-based disaster risk reduction training is being expanded to 1,800 schools across the country and is expected to reach 1 million school children.

Learn more!



Teachers have needs of their own, offering support to them after climate shocks will be important.

Climate shocks will undoubtably impact teachers directly. Their physical and mental health, food and water security and housing can all be impacted by weather extremes. In parallel, more of them will be expected in their classrooms as students cope with the direct and indirect impacts of the climate shock. In countries like in the Philippines, teachers are even expected to take additional responsibilities to coordinate schools as shelters and provide make-up classes on Saturdays following flooding events, without receiving any additional compensation or recognition.¹⁵⁴ This combination can easily lead to teacher burnout, absenteeism and for teachers to eventually leave their jobs.¹⁵⁵ To counter these risks, education systems can ensure teachers continue to be paid regularly, and that any additional responsibility is recognized either monetarily or through other means that may boost motivation. Programs active in the school to guarantee access to water and food to students can also be extended to teachers. Similarly, while teachers can play a role in offering mental health support to students, it will be important to offer services to them through either institutional support, peer support groups, or other interventions.¹⁵⁶

EDUCATION CAN BE THE KEY TO ENDING POVERTY IN A LIVABLE PLANET, BUT GOVERNMENTS MUST ACT NOW TO PROTECT EDUCATION FROM LIMATE CHANGE

"WE CAN'T BE OBLIVIOUS TO THE FACT THAT WE ARE FACING A GLOBAL CRISIS... AT SOME POINT, WE'RE GOING TO HAVE TO TAKE A BACK STEP AND ACKNOWLEDGE WE'RE IN A CRISIS AND WE NEED TO ADDRESS IT ACCORDINGLY."

> Boitumelo Molete, Youth Activist, South Africa

Education generates enormous returns for people

and societies. For individuals, education promotes employment, earnings, resilience, and health. For societies, it drives economic development, reduces poverty, promotes social cohesion, and nurtures a more informed and innovative citizenry. Spending on education is thus not a mere government expenditure, but a powerful investment in the well-being and progress of societies. Each additional year of learning is estimated to generate a 10 percent increase in earnings annually.¹⁵⁷ These higher incomes result in significant improvements in health outcomes, especially for mothers and their kids.¹⁵⁸ Combined, these benefits lift people out of poverty in large numbers. If all children got basic reading skills from school, 171 million people could be lifted out of extreme poverty which would be a 12 percent decrease in extreme poverty globally.¹⁵⁹ For nations, these benefits translate into stronger and more sustainable economic growth. Over the period 1960-2000, three-quarters of the variation in growth of GDP per capita across countries can be explained by differences in international measures of math and science skills.¹⁶⁰

Children and their communities are more resilient to shocks and transitions when they have access to quality education. More educated individuals are better able to prepare for, cope with. and recover from shocks, including those related to extreme weather events. Studies from Brazil, Cuba, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Haiti, Mali, Senegal, and Thailand provide robust evidence on the positive impact of education on vulnerability reduction.¹⁶¹ In these studies, people with higher levels of education exhibit greater disaster preparedness and response, experience reduced adverse effects, and recover more quickly from disasters. Education attainment directly influences risk perception, skills, and knowledge, all of which empower individuals to be better prepared against extreme weather events and thus reduce impacts.





Improving educational outcomes could reduce the climate risks borne by 275 million children globally.¹⁶² Higher levels of education attainment can also contribute to climate resilience indirectly through reduced poverty, improved health, and slower population growth, all of which are linked with higher community-level adaptive capacity.¹⁶³

Education attainment also fosters pro-climate behaviors. An additional year of education can increase pro-climate beliefs by 6.3 percent, increase pro-climate behavior by 8.5 percent, and produce a 35 percent increase in green voting across 16 European countries.¹⁶⁴ In China, education attainment is associated with a 2 percent increase in pro-environmental attitudes and behaviors.¹⁶⁵ Similarly, in Thailand, a study found that additional years of schooling are associated with knowledge-based environmentally friendly actions such as increasing regular use of cloth bags by 5 percent and energy-efficient appliances by 7.7 percent.¹⁶⁶ Globally, the level of education attained emerges as the most influential factor in predicting climate change awareness.¹⁶⁷ Education also exhibits a robust correlation with environmental concern and support for policies that benefit the environment.¹⁶⁸ The education sector can play a catalytic role in climate change mitigation and adaptation by reshaping mindsets, behaviors, skills, and innovation.

But climate change is threatening these benefits. Extreme weather events - high temperatures, tropical cyclones, droughts, floods, and wildfires - harm children and their future through their impacts on education. This is especially true for children in the most vulnerable settings, who need education the most. As climate change increases the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, climate related learning losses are likely to grow. Today's students could lose not just learning but also a significant share of their future average annual earnings. Beyond reducing incomes, these learning losses will lead to lower productivity, greater inequality, and possibly greater social unrest for decades to come. But these trends can be reversed if countries act quickly and decisively, guided by evidence on what works.

Adaptation within the education sector is urgently needed to protect the benefits of education. To minimize impacts of climate change on education outcomes, it will be important to promote adaptation and resilience in the education sector. This is particularly urgent because these adverse impacts will continue to become more severe. Even if the most drastic climate mitigation strategies were implemented, we will continue to observe extreme weather events having detrimental impacts on education outcomes. For the millions of children that need to attend school over the next 50 years, the results of climate mitigation will simply come too late. Actions can be implemented now to increase the capacity of educational systems to adapt and cope with these increasingly prevalent climate stressors.

Despite the risks and opportunities, education remains overlooked in climate discourse. While climate-related official development assistance (ODA) increased from 21.7 percent in 2013 to 33.4 percent in 2020, education made up less than 1.3 percent of this change.¹⁶⁹ In terms of action plans, less than 1 in 3 Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) plans mention climate education, and less than 1 in 4 NDCs mention green skills. More broadly, only half of NDCs have any child-sensitive education commitments.¹⁷⁰ Education is mentioned 9 times less frequently relative to energy and infrastructure in World Bank Country Climate Development Reports.¹⁷¹ Out of 15 review articles on the economic impacts of climate change published since 2010, only three mention the impacts of climate change on education.¹⁷² Of the research on the impacts of climate on education that does exist, nearly 78 percent comes from high-income countries.¹⁷³

The education sector must become more active in climate discourse. This includes focused policy action to protect education systems from the impacts of climate change. Without this, both large-scale poverty reduction and climate action are at risk.

REFERENCES

Adelman MB, Baron, J; Lemos, R. Forthcoming. Managing Shocks in Education: Evidence from Hurricane Matthew in Haiti. World Bank.

Agnafors S, Barmark M, Sydsjö G. 2021. "Mental health and academic performance: a study on selection and causation effects from childhood to early adulthood." *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology* 56:857-66.

Aguilera, R, T Corringham, A Gershunov, and T Benmarhnia. 2021. "Wildfire Smoke Impacts Respiratory Health More than Fine Particles from Other Sources: Observational Evidence from Southern California." *Nature Communications* 12:1493.

Akhtar S. 2024. Europe grapples with severe cold snap: Schools close and power fails. [accessed February 13 2024].

Akresh R. 2016. "Climate change, conflict, and children." The Future of Children 26(1) 51-71.

Alves A, Patiño Gómez J, Vojinovic Z, Sánchez A, Weesakul S. 2018. "Combining co-benefits and stakeholders perceptions into green infrastructure selection for flood risk reduction." *Environments* 5(2):29.

Amanzadeh N, Vesal M, Ardestani SFF. 2020. "The impact of short-term exposure to ambient air pollution on test scores in Iran." *Population and Environment* 41(3):253-85.

Angrist N, Winseck K, Patrinos HA, Zivin JSG. 2024. "Human Capital and Climate Change." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 1-28.

Angrist N, Ainomugisha M, Bathena SP, Bergman P, Crossley C, Cullen C, et al. 2023. "*Building Resilient Education Systems: Evidence from Large-Scale Randomized Trials in Five Countries*." NBER Working Paper No. 31208, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.

Aranda CH, Humeau E. 2022. "Early Warning Systems in the Philippines: Building resilience through mobile and digital technologies." London, UK. GSMA.

Asadullah MN, Islam KMM, and Wahhaj Z. 2021. "Child Marriage, Climate Vulnerability and Natural Disasters in Coastal Bangladesh." *Journal of Biosocial Science* 53:948–67.

Attanasio OP, Meghir C, Santiago A. 2012. "Education choices in Mexico: using a structural model and a randomized experiment to evaluate Progresa." *The Review of Economic Studies* 79(1):37-66.

Azevedo JP, Akmal M, Cloutier MH, Rogers H, and Wong YN. 2022. "Learning Losses During Covid-19." Policy Research Working Paper No 10218, World Bank, Washington DC.

Bakaki Z, Haer R. 2023. "The impact of climate variability on children: The recruitment of boys and girls by rebel groups." *Journal of Peace Research* 60(4):634-48.

Balakrishnan U, Tsaneva M. 2021. "Air pollution and academic performance: Evidence from India." *World Development* 146:105553.

Bangay C. 2022. "Education, anthropogenic environmental change, and sustainable development: A rudimentary framework and reflections on proposed causal pathways for positive change in low-and lowermiddle income countries." *Development Policy Review*. 40(6):e12615.

Bas G. 2021. "Relation between student mental health and academic achievement revisited: A meta-analysis." Health and academic achievement-new findings: *IntechOpen*.

Barbic, F., M. Minonzio, B. Cairo, D. Shiffer, L. Cerina, P. Verzeletti, F. Badilini, M. Vaglio, A. Porta, M. Satambrogio, R. Gatti, S. Rigo, A. Bisoglio, and R Furlan. 2022. "Effects of a Cool Classroom Microclimate on Cardiac Autonomic Control and Cognitive Performances in Undergraduate Students." *Science of the Total Environment* 808:152005.

Barbic, F., M. Minonzio, B. Cairo, D. Shiffer, A. Dipasquale, L. Cerina, A. Vatteroni, V. Urechie, P. Verzeletti, F. Badilini, M. Vaglio, R. Latrino, A. Porta, M. Santambrogio, R. Gatti, and R Furlan. 2019. "Effects of Different Classroom Temperatures on Cardiac Autonomic Control and Cognitive Performances in Undergraduate Students." *Physiological Measurement* 40:054005.

Baron J, Bend M, Roseo EM, Farrakh I, Barone A. 2022. *Floods in Pakistan: Human development at risk.* Special Note Washington, D.C. : World Bank Group.

Bashmakov I, Nilsson L, Acquaye A, Bataille C, Cullen J, de la Rue du Can S, Fischedick M, Geng Y, and Tanaka K. 2022. *"Chapter 11." In Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by N Campbell & R Pichs-Madruga. Lawrence Berkeley National Lab.(LBNL): Berkeley, CA.

Bau N, Das J, Yi Chang A. 2021. New evidence on learning trajectories in a low-income setting. International Journal of Economic Development. Volume 84.

Bekkar B, Pacheco S, Basu R, DeNicola N. 2020. "Association of air pollution and heat exposure with preterm birth, low birth weight, and stillbirth in the US: a systematic review." *JAMA network open* 3(6):e208243-e.

Benevolenza MA, DeRigne L. 2019. "The impact of climate change and natural disasters on vulnerable populations: A systematic review of literature." *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 29(2):266-81.

Bernardi F, Keivabu RC. 2023. "Poor air at school and educational inequalities by family socioeconomic status." MPIDR Working Paper 2023-014. Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Rostock, Germany.

Berry HL, Bowen K, Kjellstrom T. 2010. "Climate change and mental health: a causal pathways framework." *International journal of public health* 55:123-32.

Blandin A, Herrington C. 2022. Family heterogeneity, human capital investment, and college attainment. *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 14(4):438-78.

Bobonis GGN, Marco, Scur, Daniela. 2020. Management Practices and Coordination of Responses to COVID-19 in Public Schools: Evidence from Puerto Rico. University of Toronto Mimeo.

Brink HW, Loomans MG, Mobach MP, Kort HS. 2021. "Classrooms' indoor environmental conditions affecting the academic achievement of students and teachers in higher education: A systematic literature review." *Indoor air* 31(2):405-25.

Cadag JRD, Petal M, Luna E, Gaillard J, Pambid L, Santos GV. 2017. "Hidden disasters: Recurrent flooding impacts on educational continuity in the Philippines." *International journal of disaster risk reduction* 25:72-81.

Caminade C, McIntyre KM, Jones AE. 2019. "Impact of recent and future climate change on vector-borne diseases." *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1436(1):157-73.

Cano, R. 2020. "School Closures from California Wildfires this Week Have Kept More than a Million Kids Home." *CalMatters, November 15.* https://calmatters.org/environment/2018/11/school-closures-calif ornia-wildfires- 1- million- students/.

Carneiro J, Cole MA, Strobl E. 2021. "The effects of air pollution on students' cognitive performance: Evidence from razilian university entrance tests." *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists* 8(6):1051-77.

Caruso G, de Marcos I, Noy I. 2024. "Climate changes affect human capital." *Economics of Disasters and Climate Change* 8:157–196.

Chakraborty T, Jayaraman R. 2019. "School feeding and learning achievement: evidence from India's midday meal program." *Journal of Development Economics* 139:249-65.

Chalupka S, Anderko L. 2019. "Climate change and schools: implications for children's health and safety." *Creative Nursing* 25(3):249-57.

Chankrajang T, Muttarak R. 2017. "Green returns to education: Does schooling contribute to pro-environmental behaviours? Evidence from Thailand." *Ecological Economics* 131:434-48.

Chen C, Schwarz L, Rosenthal N, Marlier ME, Benmarhnia T. 2024. "Exploring spatial heterogeneity in synergistic effects of compound climate hazards: Extreme heat and wildfire smoke on cardiorespiratory hospitalizations in California." *Science Advance* 10(5):eadj7264.

Chen S, Guo C, Huang X. 2018. "Air pollution, student health, and school absences: Evidence from China." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 92:465-497.

Chersich MF, Pham MD, Areal A, Haghighi MM, Manyuchi A, Swift CP, et al. 2020. "Associations between high temperatures in pregnancy and risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and stillbirths: systematic review and meta-analysis." BMJ 371:m3811.

Chet C, Sok S, Chen TO, Sou V, Chey CO. 2023. "Pupil participation in the comprehensive school safety framework at primary schools in Stung Streng province, Cambodia." *International journal of disaster risk reduction* 96:103932.

Cho H. 2017. "The effects of summer heat on academic achievement: A cohort analysis." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 83:185-96.

Cianconi P, Betrò S, Janiri L. 2020. "The impact of climate change on mental health: a systematic descriptive review." *Frontiers in psychiatry* 11:74.

Crandon TJ, Scott JG, Charlson FJ, Thomas HJ. 2022. "A social-ecological perspective on climate anxiety in children and adolescents." *Nature Climate Change* 12(2):123-31.

David CC, Monterola SLC, Paguirigan Jr A, Legara EFT, Tarun AB, Batac RC, et al. 2018. "School hazard vulnerability and student learning." *International Journal of Educational Research* 92:20-9.

Davies P, Maconochie I. 2009. "The relationship between body temperature, heart rate and respiratory rate in children." *Emergency Medicine Journal* 26(9):641-3.

Davis CR, Cannon SR, Fuller SC. 2021. "The storm after the storm: the long-term lingering impacts of hurricanes on schools." *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal* 30(3):264-78.

De Brauw A, Gilligan DO, Hoddinott J, Roy S. 2015. "The impact of Bolsa Família on schooling." *World Development* 70:303-16.

Dehingia N, McDougal L, Silverman JG, Reed E, Urada L, McAuley J, et al. 2023. "Climate and gender: association between droughts and intimate partner violence in India." *American journal of epidemiology* kwad222.

Dell M, Jones BF, Olken BA. 2012. "Temperature shocks and economic growth: Evidence from the last half century." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 4(3):66-95.

Duque V, Rosales-Rueda M, Sanchez F. 2018. "How Do Early-Life Shocks Interact with Subsequent Human Capital Investments? Evidence from Administrative Data." Economics Working Paper Series 2019-17. Sydney, Australia.

Ebi KL, Hess JJ. 2020. Health Risks Due To Climate Change: Inequity In Causes And Consequences: Study examines health risks due to climate change. *Health Affairs* 39(12):2056-62.

Ebi KL, Vanos J, Baldwin JW, Bell JE, Hondula DM, Errett NA, Hayes K, Reid CE, Saha S, Spector J, and Berry P. 2021. "Extreme Weather and Climate Change: Population Health and Health System Implications." *Annual Review of Public Health* 42:293–315.

Eder C. 2014. "Displacement and education of the next generation: evidence from Bosnia and Herzegovina." *IZA Journal of Labor & Development* 3(1):1-24.

Eide ER, Showalter MH. 2012. "Sleep and student achievement." Eastern Economic Journal 38:512-24.

Evans HI, Handberry MT, Muniz-Rodriguez K, Schwind JS, Liang H, Adhikari BB, et al. 2023. "Winter Storms and Unplanned School Closure Announcements on Twitter: Comparison Between the States of Massachusetts and Georgia, 2017–2018." *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness* 17:e132.

FCDO. 2023. Addressing the climate, environment, and biodiversity crises in and through girls' education.

Fiore AM, Naik V, Leibensperger EM. 2015. Air quality and climate connections. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association* 65:645-685.

Fishman R, Carrillo P, Russ J. 2019. "Long-term impacts of exposure to high temperatures on human capital and economic productivity." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 93:221-38.

Ford, C. 2022. Education is under threat from climate change - especially for women and girls [press release]. https://www.younglives.org.uk/news/education-under-threat-climate-change-especially-wom-en-andgirls#:~:text=And%20children%20living%20in%20the,in%20the%20least%20poor%20households

Fruttero AH, Daniel; Broccolini, Chiara; Coelho, Bernardo; Gninafon, Horace; Muller, Noël. 2023. "Gendered Impacts of Climate Change: Evidence from Weather Shocks." WBG.

Galdo J. 2013. "The long-run labor-market consequences of civil war: Evidence from the Shining Path in Peru." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 61(4):789-823.

Garg T, Jagnani M, Taraz V. 2020. "Temperature and human capital in India." *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists* 7(6):1113-50.

Gilraine M. 2023. "Air Filters, Pollution, and Student Achievement." *Journal of Human Resources* 54 (4): 421-642

Glewwe P, Jacoby HG, King EM. 2001. "Early childhood nutrition and academic achievement: a longitudinal analysis." *Journal of public economics* 81(3):345-68.

Glick P, Sahn DE. 2010. "Early academic performance, grade repetition, and school attainment in Senegal: A panel data analysis." *The World Bank Economic Review* 24(1):93-120.

GPE. 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/5-ways-education-can-help-end-ex-treme-poverty</u>.

GPE. 2023. "Toward Climate-Smart Education Systems: A 7-Dimension Framework for Action". Global Partnership for Education Working Paper, Washington DC.

GPE & Save the Children. 2023. The Need for Climate-Smart Education Financing: A review of the evidence and new costing framework.

Groppo V, Kraehnert K. 2017. "The impact of extreme weather events on education." *Journal of Population Economics* 30(2):433-72.

Guzmán J, Kessler RC, Squicciarini AM, George M, Baer L, Canenguez KM, et al. 2015. "Evidence for the effectiveness of a national school-based mental health program in Chile." *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 54(10):799-807. e1.

Halpert M. 2024. U.S. winter storm brings heavy snow and travel chaos to north-east. [accessed Feb 12 2024].

Hanushek, EA, and Woessmann L. 2020. "The Economic Impacts of Learning Losses". OECD Education Working Papers No 225, Paris, France.

Hanushek EA, Woessmann L. 2021. "Education and economic growth." Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Economics and Finance

Hermann Z, Horn D, Köllő J, Sebők A, Semjén A, Varga J. 2020. "The impact of reading and mathematics test results on future earnings and employment." *The hungarian Labour Market* 45-52.

Hernandez L. 2019. "Infraestructura y educación, una dupla poderosa frente a las inundaciones." El País.

Hickel J. 2020. "Quantifying national responsibility for climate breakdown: an equality-based attribution approach for carbon dioxide emissions in excess of the planetary boundary." *The Lancet Planetary Health* 4(9):e399-e404.

Hsiang SM, Burke M, Miguel E. 2013. "Quantifying the influence of climate on human conflict." *Science* 341(6151):1235367.

Hyndman B, Button B. 2023. "The Influences of Extreme Cold and Storms on Schoolchildren." The Impact of Extreme Weather on School Education: Routledge p. 60-77.

IPA. 2020. The Impact of Bicycles on Girls' Education and Empowerment Outcomes in Zambia.

IRC. 2023. Climate Resilient Education Systems Trial (CREST).

Jeffries V, Salzer MS. 2022. Mental health symptoms and academic achievement factors. *Journal of American College Health* 70(8):2262-5.

Jerrim, J. Lindsey Macmillan, L. 2015. Income Inequality, Intergenerational Mobility, and the Great Gatsby Curve: Is Education the Key?, Social Forces, Volume 94, Issue 2, December 2015, Pages 505–533.

Johnston DW, Knott R, Mendolia S, Siminski P. 2021. "Upside-down down-under: Cold temperatures reduce learning in Australia." *Economics of Education Review* 85:102172.

Joshi K. 2019. "The impact of drought on human capital in rural India." *Environment and Development Economics* 24(4):413-36.

Juwitasari R. 2022. "Saving Lives Through Education for Disaster Preparedness and Awareness: Lessons from Japan, Indonesia, and Thailand." Heinrich Boll Stiftung.

Kemp L, Xu C, Depledge J, Ebi KL, Gibbins G, Kohler TA, Rockström J, Scheffer M, Schellnhuber HJ, Steffen W, and Lenton TM. 2022. "Climate Endgame: Exploring Catastrophic Climate Change Scenar- ios." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 119:e2108146119.

Kumer A. 2022. Global status of multi-hazard early warning systems: target G. https://www.undrr.org/publication/global-status-multi-hazard-early-warning-systems: UNDRR & WMO.

Lagmay EAD, Rodrigo MMT. 2023. "The impact of extreme weather on student online learning participation. Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning. 2022;17(1):26Leal Filho W, Weissenberger S, Luetz JM, Sierra J, Simon Rampasso I, Sharifi A, et al. Towards a greater engagement of universities in addressing climate change challenges." *Scientific Reports* 13(1):19030.

Lee H, Calvin K, Dasgupta D, Krinner G, Mukherji A, Thorne P, et al. 2023. "Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change."

Lee TM, Markowitz EM, Howe PD, Ko C-Y, Leiserowitz AA. 2015. Predictors of public climate change awareness and risk perception around the world. *Nature climate change* 5(11):1014-20.

Lundeberg S. 2021. Study of destructive California fire finds resilience planning must account for socially vulnerable [press release].

MacEwen LN, Ndabananiye JC, Ortiz D, Séguin T, Tréguier M. 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.globalpart-nership.org/blog/planning-starting-point-climate-resilient-education-systems</u>. GPE.

Macks KJ. 1987. "Typhoon resistant school buildings for Viet Nam." Viet Nam Ministry of Education. UNESCO

MBSSE. 2020. Getting all children into school: The Sierra Leone story.

McCaul EJ, Donaldson Jr GA, Coladarci T, Davis WE. 1992. "Consequences of dropping out of school: Findings from high school and beyond." *The Journal of Educational Research* 85(4):198-207.

Melo AP, Suzuki M. 2021. "Temperature, effort, and achievement: Evidence from a large-scale standardized exam in Brazil.". Unpublished work.

Miller S, Vela M. 2013. "The effects of air pollution on educational outcomes: evidence from Chile." IDB Working Paper No. IDB-WP-468, Miller, Sebastian and Vela, Mauricio, The Effects of Air Pollution on Educational Outcomes: Evidence from Chile (December 2013). IDB Working Paper No. IDB-WP-468, available at SSRN: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2370257</u> or <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2370257</u>.

Misra AK. 2014. "Climate change and challenges of water and food security." *International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment* 3(1):153-65.

Mora C, Dousset B, Caldwell IR, Powell FE, Geronimo RC, Bielecki CR, et al. 2017. "Global Risk of Deadly Heat." *Nature Climate Change* 7:501–6.

Mordecai EA, Ryan SJ, Caldwell JM, Shah MM, LaBeaud AD. 2020. "Climate change could shift disease burden from malaria to arboviruses in Africa." *The Lancet Planetary Health* 4(9):e416-e23.

Mugo D. 2023. Nearly half a million children in Malawi unable to attend school due to cyclone Freddy [press release]. <u>https://www.savethechildren.net/news/nearly-half-million-children-malawi-unable-attend-school-due-cyclone-freddy</u>: Save the Children.

Munia HA, Guillaume JH, Wada Y, Veldkamp T, Virkki V, Kummu M. 2020. "Future transboundary water stress and its drivers under climate change: a global study." *Earth's future* 8(7):e2019EF001321.

Munoz-Najar A, Gilberto A, Hasan A, Cobo C, Azevedo JP, Akmal M. 2021. "Remote Learning during COVID-19: Lessons from Today, Principles for Tomorrow." World Bank.

Muralidharan K, Prakash N. 2017. "Cycling to school: Increasing secondary school enrollment for girls in India." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 9(3):321-50.

Murphy JM, Guzmán J, McCarthy AE, Squicciarini AM, George M, Canenguez KM, et al. 2015. "Mental health predicts better academic outcomes: A longitudinal study of elementary school students in Chile." *Child Psychiatry & Human Development* 46:245-56.

Muttarak R, Lutz W. 2014. "Is education a key to reducing vulnerability to natural disasters and hence unavoidable climate change?" *Ecology and society* 19(1).

Muttarak R, Pothisiri W. 2013. "The role of education on disaster preparedness: case study of 2012 Indian Ocean earthquakes on Thailand's Andaman Coast." *Ecology and Society* 18(4).

Nakitende AJ, Bangirana P, Nakasujja N, Ssenkusu JM, Bond C, Idro R, et al. 2023. "Severe Malaria and Academic Achievement." *Pediatrics* 151(4):e2022058310.

Neumayer E, Plümper T. 2007. "The gendered nature of natural disasters: The impact of catastrophic events on the gender gap in life expectancy, 1981–2002." *Annals of the association of American Geographers* 97(3):551-66.

News Citi. 2021. GES trains taskforce to ensure students return to school. <u>https://www.modernghana.com/</u><u>news/1054898/ges-trains-taskforce-to-ensure-students-return.html</u>. Modern Ghana.

Nübler L, Austrian K, Maluccio JA, Pinchoff J. 2021. Rainfall shocks, cognitive development and educational attainment among adolescents in a drought-prone region in Kenya. *Environment and Development Economics* 26(5-6):466-87.

Obradovich N, Migliorini R, Mednick SC, Fowler JH. 2017. "Nighttime temperature and human sleep loss in a changing climate." *Science advances* 3(5):e1601555.

Odd D, Evans D, Emond A. 2016. "Preterm birth, age at school entry and long term educational achievement." *PLoS One* 11(5):e0155157. Odera ED. 2020. "Thermal Performance of Learning Spaces in Tvet Institutions in Kisumu." University of Nairobi.

Onyango MA, Resnick K, Davis A, Shah RR. 2019. "Gender-based violence among adolescent girls and young women: a neglected consequence of the West African Ebola outbreak." Pregnant in the time of Ebola. Global Maternal and Child Health, 121-32.

Opoola F, Adebisi SS, Ibegbu AO. 2016. "The study of nutritional status and academic performance of primary school children in Zaria, Kaduna State, Nigeria." *Annals of Bioanthropology* 4(2):96.

Paciorek M. 2024. Cold snap grips central and eastern europe. [accessed Feb 13 2024]. <u>https://www.barrons.</u> <u>com/news/cold-snap-grips-central-and-eastern-europe-f1237038</u>. AFP News.

Park RJ. 2022. Hot temperature and high-stakes performance. Journal of Human Resources 57(2):400-34.

Park RJ, Behrer AP, Goodman J. 2021. Learning is inhibited by heat exposure, both internationally and within the United States. *Nature human behaviour* 5(1):19-27.

Park RJ, Goodman J, Hurwitz M, Smith J. 2020. "Heat and learning." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 12(2):306-39.

Pellerone M. 2021. "Self-perceived instructional competence, self-efficacy and burnout during the covid-19 pandemic: A study of a group of Italian school teachers." *European Journal of Investigation in Health, Psychology and Education* 11(2):496-512.

Pichler A, Striessnig E. 2013. "Differential vulnerability to hurricanes in Cuba, Haiti, and the Dominican Republic: the contribution of education." *Ecology and society* 18(3).

Porras–Salazar JA, Wyon DP, Piderit–Moreno B, Contreras–Espinoza S, Wargocki P. 2018. "Reducing classroom temperature in a tropical climate improved the thermal comfort and the performance of elementary school pupils." *Indoor air* 28(6):892-904.

Pritchett L, Beatty A. 2015. "Slow down, you're going too fast: Matching curricula to student skill levels." *International Journal of Educational Development* 40:276-88.

Psacharopoulos G, Patrinos HA. 2018. "Returns to investment in education: a decennial review of the global literature." *Education Economics* 26(5):445-58.

Perry FB, Juan D, Dahlin L. 2023. <u>https://blogsworldbankorg/endpovertyinsouthasia/how-are-children-pa-kistans-2022-floods-faring</u> [Internet]. World Bank Blogs.

Quigley MA, Poulsen G, Boyle E, Wolke D, Field D, Alfirevic Z, et al. 2012. "Early term and late preterm birth are associated with poorer school performance at age 5 years: a cohort study." *Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition* 97(3):F167-F73.

Randell H, Gray C. 2019. "Climate change and educational attainment in the global tropics." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116(18):8840-5.

Reid CE, Brauer M, Johnston FH, Jerrett M, Balmes JR, Elliott CT. 2016. "Critical review of health impacts of wildfire smoke exposure." *Environmental health perspectives* 124(9):1334-43.

Requia WJ, Saenger CC, Cicerelli RE, de Abreu LM, Cruvinel VR. 2022. "Air quality around schools and school-level academic performance in Brazil." *Atmospheric Environment* 279:119125.

Ridder N, Ukkola A, Pitman A, Perkins-Kirkpatrick S. 2022. "Increased occurrence of high impact compound events under climate change." *Npj Climate and Atmospheric Science* 5(1):3.

Rifkin DI, Long MW, Perry MJ. 2018. "Climate change and sleep: A systematic review of the literature and conceptual framework." *Sleep medicine reviews* 42:3-9.

Ritchie A, Sautner B, Omege J, Denga E, Nwaka B, Akinjise I, et al. 2021. "Long-term mental health effects of a devastating wildfire are amplified by sociodemographic and clinical antecedents in college students." *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness* 15(6):707-17.

Roach T, Whitney J. 2022. "Heat and learning in elementary and middle school." *Education Economics* 30(1):29-46.

Ryan SJ, Lippi CA, Zermoglio F. 2020. "Shifting transmission risk for malaria in Africa with climate change: a framework for planning and intervention." *Malaria Journal* 19:1-14.

Sabarwal S, Venegas Marin S, Spivack M, Ambasz D. 2024. "Learning to Propel climate Action". World Bank, Washington DC.

Sabarwal S, Yi Chang A, Angrist N, D'Souza R. 2023. "Learning Losses and Dropouts: The Heavy Cost Covid-19 Imposed on School-Age Children." In: Collapse & Recovery: How COVID-19 Eroded Human Capital and What to Do About It. World Bank, Washington DC.

Sakti AD, Rahadianto MAE, Pradhan B, Muhammad HN, Andani IGA, Sarli PW, et al. 2021. "School location analysis by integrating the accessibility, natural and biological hazards to support equal access to education." *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* 11(1):12.

Sánchez A, Gregory L, Crawford MF, Oviedo Buitrago ME, Herman RS, Ahlgren E. 2023. Learning Recovery to Acceleration : A Global Update on Country Efforts to Improve Learning and Reduce Inequalities. WBG.

Sanchez AL, Cornacchio D, Poznanski B, Golik AM, Chou T, Comer JS. 2018. "The effectiveness of schoolbased mental health services for elementary-aged children: A meta-analysis." *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 57(3):153-65.

Sanson A, Bellemo M. 2021. "Children and youth in the climate crisis." BJPsych bulletin 45(4):205-9.

Santana OA, Silva TP, Oliveira GSd, Silva MMd, Inacio EdSB, Encinas JI. 2013. "Integration of face-to-face and virtual classes improves test scores in Biology undergraduate courses on days with flooding in Brazil." *Acta Scientiarum Education* 35(01):117-23.

Schady N, Holla A, Sabarwal S, Silva J. 2023. "Collapse and Recovery: How the COVID-19 Pandemic Eroded Human Capital and What to Do about It" World Bank, Washington DC.

Schady N, Sabarwal S, Yi Chang A, Venegas Marin S, D'souza R, Lautharte I, Tzintzun Valladolid I, Schwarz L Forthcoming. Heat and Learning: How Exposure to Extreme Heat Affects Learning in Brazil.

Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN. 2007. "Global food security under climate change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104(50):19703-8.

Schiff M, Jha A, Walker D, Gonzalez-Pier E. 2023. "Collectively achieving primary health care and educational goals through school-based platforms: financing solutions for intersectoral collaboration." *Frontiers in Public Health* 11:1241594.

Shah M, Steinberg BM. 2017. "Drought of opportunities: Contemporaneous and long-term impacts of rainfall shocks on human capital." *Journal of Political Economy* 125(2):527-61.

Silva RA, West JJ, Lamarque J-F, Shindell DT, Collins WJ, Faluvegi G, et al. 2017. "Future global mortality from changes in air pollution attributable to climate change." *Nature climate change* 7:647-651.

Simmons SE, Saxby BK, McGlone FP, Jones DA. 2008. "The effect of passive heating and head cooling on perception, cardiovascular function and cognitive performance in the heat." *European journal of applied physiology* 104:271-80.

Sims K. 2021. "Education, Girls' Education and Climate Change." K4D Emerging Issues Report 29. Institute of Development Studies: Brighton, UK.

Singh S, Shah J. 2022. "Case Studies on Adaptation and Climate Resilience in Schools and Educational Settings." *Global Center on Adaptation.*

Stott P. 2016. "How climate change affects extreme weather events." Science 352(6293):1517-8.

Swaine A. 2018. "Conflict-related violence against women: Transforming transition." *Cambridge University Press.*

Tayne K, Littrell MK, Okochi C, Gold AU, Leckey E. 2021. "Framing action in a youth climate change filmmaking program: Hope, agency, and action across scales." *Environmental Education Research* 27(5):706-26.

Thamtanajit K. 2020. "The impacts of natural disaster on student achievement: Evidence from severe floods in Thailand." *The Journal of Developing Areas* 54(4).

Theirworld. 2018. Safe Schools: The Hidden Crisis.

Thiery W, Lange S, Rogelj J, Schleussner C-F, Gudmundsson L, Seneviratne SI, et al. 2021. "Intergenerational inequities in exposure to climate extremes." *Science* 374(6564):158-60.

Thompson R, Hornigold R, Page L, Waite T. 2018. "Associations between high ambient temperatures and heat waves with mental health outcomes: a systematic review." *Public health* 161:171-91.

Thompson T. 2021. "Young people's climate anxiety revealed in landmark survey." Nature 597(7878):605-.

UN. 2018. Stronger Human Resources and Improved Skills to Tackle Climate Change [Available from: <u>https://www.uncclearn.org/country-projects/</u>].

UNDP. 2021. Peoples' Climate Vote. <u>https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/publications/</u> UNDP-Oxford-Peoples-Climate-Vote-Results.pdf

UNFCCC. 2023. Climate Justice: Loss and Damage Finance for Children. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/</u> <u>files/resource/Child%20Rights-LD%20briefing-11Aug2023.pdf</u>

UNICEF. 2016. One week after Hurricane Matthew, at least 300 schools damaged in Haiti, over 100,000 children miss out on learning [press release]. <u>https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/one-week-after-hurri-cane-matthew-least-300-schools-damaged-haiti-over-100000</u>.

UNICEF. 2018. Drinking water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: Global baseline report.

UNICEF. 2020. Responding to the Mental Health and Psychosocial Impact of COVID-19 on Children and Families. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/83951/file/MHPSS-UNICEF-Learning-brief.pdf</u>

UNICEF. 2021a. The climate crisis is a child rights crisis. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/105376/file/UNICEF-</u> <u>climate-crisis-child-rights-crisis.pdf</u> UNICEF. Making Climate and Environment Policies for & with Children and Young People.

UNICEF. 2021b. Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Case Study Mozambique. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/113516/file/Responding%20to%20multiple%20emergencies%20%E2%80%93%20building%20</u> teachers%E2%80%99%20capacity%20to%20provide%20mental%20health%20and%20psychosocial%20 support%20before,%20during,%20and%20after%20crises%20(Mozambigue).pdf

UNICEF. 2022a. A call to action on climate and children. https://www.unicef.org/media/126601/file/ Protect,%20Prepare,%20Prioritize.pdf

UNICEF. 2022b. Child-sensitive climate policies for every child. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/130081/file/</u> <u>Child-Sensitive%20Climate%20Policies%20For%20Every%20Child.pdf</u>

UNICEF. 2022c. Haiti: Six months after the earthquakes, more than 4 out of 5 schools destroyed or damaged are yet to be rebuilt [press release]. <u>https://www.unicef.org/lac/en/press-releases/haiti-six-months-after-earthquake-more-4-out-5-schools-destroyed-or-damaged-are-yet-to-be-rebuilt</u>.

UNICEF. 2023. Weather-related disasters led to 43.1 million displacements of children over six years [press release]. <u>https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/weather-related-disasters-led-431-million-displacements-children-over-six-years</u>.

Van der Land V, Hummel D. 2013. Vulnerability and the role of education in environmentally induced migration in Mali and Senegal. *Ecology and Society* 18(4). van Houdt CA, Oosterlaan J, van Wassenaer-Leemhuis AG, van Kaam AH, Aarnoudse-Moens CS. 2019. Executive function deficits in children born preterm or at low birthweight: a meta-analysis. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 61(9):1015-24.

Varchetta A. 2019. Evaluating Comprehensive School Safety through a Global Baseline Survey of Disaster Risk Reduction Policies in the Education Sector. Western Washington University Graduate School Collection.

Venegas Marin S, Schwarz L, Sabarwal S. 2024. "Impacts of extreme weather events on education outcomes: a review of evidence." *World Bank Research Observer*.

Vu TM. 2022. "Effects of heat on mathematics test performance in Vietnam." *Asian Economic Journal* 36(1):72-94.

Wamsler C, Brink E, Rentala O. 2012. "Climate change, adaptation, and formal education: the role of schooling for increasing societies' adaptive capacities in El Salvador and Brazil." *Ecology and Society* 17(2).

Wang Q, Niu G, Gan X, Cai Q. 2022. "Green returns to education: Does education affect pro-environmental attitudes and behaviors in China?" *PloS One* 17(2):e0263383.

Wargocki P, Porras-Salazar JA, Contreras-Espinoza S. 2019. "The relationship between classroom temperature and children's performance in school." *Building and Environment* 157:197-204.

World Bank. 2015. "The Socio-Economic Impacts of Ebola in Sierra Leone." <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/publication/socio-economic-impacts-ebola-sierra-leone</u>. World Bank.

World Bank. 2017. "Economic Impacts of Child Marriage: Global Synthesis Report." World Bank.

World Bank. 2022a. "Securing a Future with Safer Schools: Building Resilience in Pacific Schools." Available from: <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2022/05/30/securing-a-future-with-safer-schools-building-resilience-in-pacific-schools.</u> World Bank.

World Bank. 2022b. "Guide for Learning Recovery and Acceleration." <u>https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/523b6ac03f2c643f93b9c043d48eddc1-0200022022/related/English-Exec-Summary-Guide-for-Learning-Recovery-and-Acceleration-Final.pdf.</u> World Bank.

World Bank. 2022c. "Education in Niger: Proposed Support to Government Priorities for FY 23." World Bank.

World Bank. 2022d. "Project Paper on Proposed additional credit and grant to Republic of Rwanda." International Development Association. World Bank.

World Bank. 2023a. "How to Protect, Build, and Use Human Capital to Address Climate Change." <u>https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/cc99b238fa9a0f266579d49dc591b2d4-0140062023/original/HCP-Climate-Policy-Brief.pdf</u>. World Bank.

World Bank. 2023b. Private Capital Brings Clean Drinking Water to Schools and Communities in Vietnam [press release]. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/results/2023/12/20/private-capital-brings-clean-drinking-water-to-schools-and-communities-in-vietnam</u>.

World Bank. 2023. "Nigeria: A financial incentive scheme is bringing girls back to school" [Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2023/09/12/nigeria-a-financial-incentive-scheme-is-bring-ing-girls-back-to-school]

World Bank. 2024a. Global Program for Safer Schools (GPSS). [https://gpss.worldbank.org/index.php/en/about-us]. World Bank.

World Bank Group, Climate Change Knowledge Portal. 2024b. URL: <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/</u>. Date Accessed: 2/11/2024. CMIP6 0.25degree, Number of Hot Days (TMAX > 30 C), Annual Aggregation, Timeseries 2015-2100, 50thPercentile of Multi-Model Ensemble, SSP2-4.5 Scenario (Middle-of-the-Road Scenario)

Weems CF, Taylor LK, Costa NM, Marks AB, Romano DM, Verrett SL, et al. 2009. "Effect of a school-based test anxiety intervention in ethnic minority youth exposed to Hurricane Katrina." *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology* 30(3):218-26.

Wei T, Yang S, Moore JC, Shi P, Cui X, Duan Q, et al. 2012. "Developed and developing world responsibilities for historical climate change and CO2 mitigation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109(32):12911-5.

Wen J, Burke M. 2022. "Lower test scores from wildfire smoke exposure." Nature Sustainability 5(11):947-55.

WFP. 2023. "The State of School Feeding Worldwide 2022." <u>https://www.wfp.org/publications/state-school-feeding-worldwide-2022</u>.

Williams PC, Bartlett AW, Howard–Jones A, McMullan B, Khatami A, Britton PN, et al. 2021. "Impact of climate change and biodiversity collapse on the global emergence and spread of infectious diseases." *Journal of paediatrics and child health* 57(11):1811-8.

Williamson K, Satre-Meloy A, Velasco K, Green K. 2018. "Climate change needs behavior change: Making the case for behavioral solutions to reduce global warming." Rare Center for Behavior & the Environment, Arlington, VA, USA.

WMO. 2021. "Weather-related disasters increase over past 50 years, causing more damage but fewer deaths." <u>https://public-old.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/weather-related-disasters-increase-over-past-50-years-causing-more-damage-fewer</u>.

Yeganeh AJ, Reichard G, McCoy AP, Bulbul T, Jazizadeh F. 2018. "Correlation of ambient air temperature and cognitive performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis." *Building and Environment* 143:701-16.

Zhang X, Chen X, Zhang X. 2024. "Temperature and low-stakes cognitive performance." *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists* 11(1):75-96.

Zhang X, Chen X, Zhang X. 2018. "The impact of exposure to air pollution on cognitive performance." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(37):9193-7.

Zhang Y, Li Q, Ge Y, Du X, Wang H. 2022. "Growing prevalence of heat over cold extremes with overall milder extremes and multiple successive events." *Communications Earth & Environment* 3(1):73.

Zimbabwe Education Cluster. 2019. Rapid Joint Education Needs Assessment.

Zivin JG, Shrader J. 2016. "Temperature extremes, health, and human capital." The Future of Children 31-50.

Zivin JG, Song Y, Tang Q, Zhang P. 2020. "Temperature and high-stakes cognitive performance: Evidence from the national college entrance examination in China." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 104:102365.

Zuilkowski SS, Jukes MC, Dubeck MM. 2016. "I failed, no matter how hard I tried: A mixed-methods study of the role of achievement in primary school dropout in rural Kenya." *International Journal of Educational Development* 50:100-7.

NOTES

¹Ebi et al., 2021; Stott, 2016 ² Theirworld, 2018 ³ UNICEF, 2021a ⁴ Venegas Marin et al., 2024 ⁵ Thiery et al., 2021 ⁶Data extracted from Climate Change Knowledge Portal. For the purpose of this graph, only Landslide, Flood, Storm, Wildfire, and Drought events are included ⁷ Mugo, 2023 ⁸ David et al., 2018 ⁹ Baron et al., 2022 ¹⁰ Azevedo et al., 2022; Schady et al., 2023 ¹¹ Shady et al., 2023 ¹² Zhang et al., 2022 ¹³ Akhtar, 2024 ¹⁴ Hyndman & Button, 2023; Evans et al., 2022; Gruppo & Krahnert, 2016 ¹⁵ Groppo & Krahnert, 2016 ¹⁶ Akhtar, 2024; Halpert, 2024 ¹⁷ World Bank, 2022a ¹⁸ Zimbabwe Education Cluster, 2019 ¹⁹ UNICEF, 2022c ²⁰ UNICEF, 2016 ²¹Kawasaki et al., 2021 ²² UNICEF, 2023 ²³ Perry, 2023 ²⁴ Cadag et al., 2017 ²⁵ Perry, 2023 ²⁶ Cadag et al., 2017 ²⁷ Santana et al., 2013 ²⁸ Santana et al., 2013 ²⁹ Lagmay & Rodrigo, 2022 ³⁰ Nübler et al., 2021; Shah & Steinberg, 2017 ³¹Grau et al., 2018 32 Schady et al., 2023 ³³ Park et al., 2021. Methodology to translate standard deviation into learning losses assumes students learn on average 0.3 standard deviations per year and that a typical academic year has 180 days (See Sabarwal et al., 2023 and Bau et al., 2021 for more information). The formula is thus:

Days of learning lost = $\frac{SD_{change}}{0.3 LAYS} * 9 months * 20 days$

³⁴ Garg et al., 2020
³⁵ Park, 2022; Zivin et al., 2020; Vu, 2022; Melo & Suzuki, 2021; Zhang et al., 2024
³⁷ Vu, 2022
³⁸ Hermann et al., 2020
³⁹ Cho, 2017
⁴⁰ Schady, et al., forthcoming
⁴¹ Park et al., 2020
⁴² Roach & Whitney, 2022
⁴³ Brink et al., 2020
⁴⁴ Dupont et al., 2023
⁴⁵ Simmons et al., 2008
⁴⁶ Davis, Cannon, & Fuller, 2021

⁴⁷ Davies & Maconochie, 2009 ⁴⁸ Yeganeh et al., 2018 ⁴⁹ Franca Barbic et al., 2022; F Barbic et al., 2019; Brink et al., 2021; Porras-Salazar et al., 2018; Wargocki et al., 2019; Studies ranging from elementary to college/university level students. Assumes effect of temperature on achievement is linear. Two studies observed no effect of temperature. ⁵⁰ Roach & Whitney, 2022 ⁵¹ Johnston et al., 2021 ⁵² Schady et al., 2024 ⁵³ Climate Change Knowledge Portal, 2024b ⁵⁴ Climate Change Knowledge Portal, 2024b ⁵⁵ Randell & Gray, 2018 ⁵⁶ Duque et al., 2019 ⁵⁷ Caminade et al., 2019 ⁵⁸ Ryan et al., 2020 ⁵⁹ Aguilera et al. 2021; Reid et al. 2016; Chen et al., 2024 ⁶⁰ Bernardi and Keivabu 2023 ; Gilraine and Zheng 2022; Amanzadeh et al. 2020; Carneiro et al. 2021; Miller and Vela 2013; Zhang et al. 2018; Balakrishnan and Tsaneva 2021 ⁶¹ Fiore et al., 2015 62 Silva et al., 2017 63 Silva et al., 2017 ⁶⁴ Requia et al., 2022 65 Chen et al., 2018 ⁶⁶ Weems et al., 2009 67 Ritchie et al., 2021 ⁶⁸ Crandon et al., 2022 69 UNDP, 2022 70 Schmidhuber & Tubiello, 2007 ⁷¹Opoola et al., 2016 72 Nübler et al., 2021 73 Asadullah, Islam, & Wahhaj, 2021 ⁷⁴ Hsiang et al., 2013 ⁷⁵ Bakaki et al., 2023 ⁷⁶ FCDO report, 2023 ⁷⁷ Caruso et al., 2024; WBG, 2023a 78 Wen & Burke, 2021 ⁷⁹ Dell, Jones, and Olken 2012 ⁸⁰ Jerrim and Macmillan 2015 ⁸¹ Duncan and Murnane 2011 ⁸² Leichenko et al., 2014 ⁸³ Hanushek & Maximilian, 2021 ⁸⁴ World Bank, 2022b 85 UNICEF, 2014 ⁸⁶ Hickel, 2020 ⁸⁷ Dell et al., 2012 ⁸⁸ Ford, 2022 ⁸⁹ Benevolenza et al., 2019 90 GPE, 2023 91 Joshi, 2019 92 Fruttero et al., 2023 93 Swaine, 2018 94 Asadullah et al., 2021 ⁹⁵ Onyango et al., 2019 ⁹⁶ Fruttero et al., 2023 97 Park et al., 2021 98 GPE & Save the Children, 2023 99 UNFCCC, 2023

¹⁰⁰ IRC, 2023 ¹⁰¹ World Bank, 2024a ¹⁰² David et al., 2018 ¹⁰³ GPE, 2023 ¹⁰⁴ MacEwen et al., 2022 ¹⁰⁵ UN, 2018 ¹⁰⁶ Kumer, 2022 ¹⁰⁷ Aranda, 2022 ¹⁰⁸ Adelman et al., (forthcoming) ¹⁰⁹ Bobonis et al., 2020 ¹¹⁰ World Bank, 2022c ¹¹¹ World Bank, 2022d ¹¹² Macks, 1987 ¹¹³ Alves et al., 2018 ¹¹⁴ World Bank, 2024a ¹¹⁵ World Bank, 2024a ¹¹⁶ Sakti et al., 2021 ¹¹⁷ Wargocki et aal, 2019 ¹¹⁸ Porras-Salazar et al., 2018 ¹¹⁹ Chalupka et al., 2019 ¹²⁰ Odera et al., 2020 ¹²¹ UNICEF, 2018 ¹²² Singh & Shah, 2022 ^{123 W}orld Bank, 2023b ¹²⁴ World Bank, 2024a ¹²⁵ Cadag et al., 2017 ¹²⁶ Angrist et al., 2023 ¹²⁷ Santana et al., 2013 ¹²⁸ Munoz-Najar et al., 2021 ¹²⁹ World Bank, 2015 ¹³⁰ World Bank, 2022b ¹³¹Citi news, 2021 ¹³² MBSSE, 2020 133 Attanasio et al., 2012; De Brauw et al., 2015 134 Muralidharan & Prakash, 2017; IPA, 2020 ¹³⁵ Swaine, 2018 136 Sims, 2021 ¹³⁷ Asadullah et al., 2021 ¹³⁸ Onyango et al., 2019 ¹³⁹ World Bank, 2022b ¹⁴⁰ World Bank, 2023c 141 Schady et al., 2023; WBG, 2022b ¹⁴² WFP, 2023 ¹⁴³ Chakraborty & Jayaraman, 2019 ¹⁴⁴ Glewwe et al., 2001 145 Murphy et al. 2015; Agnafors et al. 2021; Bas 2021 146 Sanchez et al., 2018 ; Guzmán et al., 2015 ¹⁴⁷ Lundeberg, 2021 148 UNICEF, 2021b ¹⁴⁹ Chet et al., 2023 ¹⁵⁰ Juwitasari, 2022 ¹⁵¹ Bangladesh, Chad, Gabon, Jordan, Pakistan, Uganda ¹⁵² Hernandez, 2019 ¹⁵³ Sanchez, 2023 ¹⁵⁴ Cadag et al., 2017 ¹⁵⁵ Pellerone, 2021

¹⁵⁶ UNICEF, 2020

- ¹⁵⁷ Psacharopoulos and Patrinos, 2018
- ¹⁵⁸ World Bank, 2017
- ¹⁵⁹ GPE, 2016
- ¹⁶⁰ Hanushek & Woessmann, 2021
- ¹⁶¹ Muttarak & Pothisiri, 2013; Pichler & Striessnig, 2013; Van der Land & Hummel, 2013; Wamsler et al., 2012

¹⁶² UNICEF, 2022a

¹⁶³ Muttarak & Lutz, 2014

¹⁶⁴ Angrist et al., 2024

¹⁶⁵ Wang et al., 2022

¹⁶⁶ Chankrajang & Muttarak, 2017

¹⁶⁷ T. M. Lee et al., 2015

¹⁶⁸ Chankrajang & Muttarak, 2017

¹⁶⁹ GPE, 2023

¹⁷⁰ UNICEF, 2022b

¹⁷¹ Authors own analysis based on a review of the CCDRs made publicly available as of April 2024

¹⁷² First three pages of google scholar search of search terms climate AND impact AND economic including only articles published 2010 and onwards that are review articles on the broad impacts on economy/social and excluding articles on a specific sector or with a methods focus or that have a specific regional focus.

¹⁷³ A Web of Science search on the topic "climate and impact" with the search terms, health resulted in 24,980, economic produced 31,243 and education produced 5,732. From these results, we can conclude that there is four times more research on the economic impacts of climate and five times more research on health impacts of climate than there is research considering the educational impacts of climate. Out of the 5,732 results from Web of Science of climate impacts on education, 1903 (33%) are based in the United States and 4,467 (78%) are from high-income economies (based on WBG classifications). This is based on web of science classifications and may not describe where the research for the manuscript it based.

